REED'S, INC.
Form DEF 14A
November 13, 2018

[ ] Definitive Additional Materials

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20549
SCHEDULE 14A (RULE 14a-101)
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT
SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION
Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Filed by Registrant [X]
Filed by a Party other than the Registrant [ ]
Check the appropriate box:
[ ] Preliminary Proxy Statement
[ ] Confidential, for use of the Commission only (only as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
[X] Definitive Proxy Statement

[ ] Soliciting Material Pursuant to Section 240.14a-12
REED's, INC.
(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
[X] No fee required.
[ ] Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
Per unit or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
(5) Total fee paid:
[ ] Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing fee [ ] for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, of the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1) Amount Previously Paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.
(3) Filing Party:
(4) Date Filed:

Dear Stockholder,
Thank you for your continued interest in Reed's, Inc. It has demonstrably been a productive year. Led by talented and experienced industry professionals, the business is healthy, with a promising trajectory. We continue to dedicate ourselves to industriously optimizing every aspect of the business to increase value.
It is my pleasure to present to you our significant transformation over the last year, achievements and growth plans as we continue to strive to capitalize on our leadership position as America's #1 Ginger Beer and Virgil's leading position in the all-natural better-for-you craft category.
During the last year, we transformed our business to position ourselves to take advantage of the significant opportunity that lies ahead. Specifically, we:
expanded our leadership team, adding talent to each function and aspect of our operations;
developed and executed a new strategic focus, directing 100% of our resources to grow the Reed's and Virgil's brands and focusing on our core offerings;
refreshed our Reed's and Virgil's brands;
enhanced our capital structure first through a highly successful rights offering in December 2017 and, more recently, the refinancing of our credit facilities at more favorable terms including greater capacity, lower interest rates and significantly lower annual debt service;

laid the groundwork for optimization of our business model through our planned exit from manufacturing operations

to an asset-light business model;

enhanced our sales infrastructure and marketing team; and

expanded our distribution network by engaging industry leading brokers to broaden our reach within existing and new channels of distribution.

The results of these initial steps of our transformation are evidenced by our improving core sales growth, new product introductions while reducing non-core SKUs, and significantly higher gross margins. Our proprietary zero sugar formulas succeed in delivering the often-elusive combination of being all-natural with zero calories while delivering on the company's signature great bold flavors. The new Virgil's Zero line and can offerings have been well received by retailers and consumers with velocity performance approaching levels of our more established SKU's and drove double digit sales growth for the Virgil's brand in the second and third quarters of 2018. We released our new line of Reed's Zero Sugar Ginger Beers and can offerings and anticipate our redesigned Reed's offerings will drive accelerated growth for the Reed's brand, mirroring the growth we have seen on the Virgil's portfolio.

The addition of can offerings to both brands is expected to greatly broaden the company's reach in new and, until now, untapped large channels of distribution including convenience stores, drug, club and on-premise channels. We are excited to announce that our new breakthrough package designs for the Reed's and Virgil's brands will be hitting shelves early next year. Penetrating on-premise accounts will help the company capture the continued interest and growth of ginger beer powered specialty cocktails such as the Moscow Mule and other spirit flavored Mules. We've always believed Reed's Ginger Beer—made with all-natural ingredients including fresh organic ginger root—makes the best "Reed's Mules" which many customers are now discovering. In 2019 and beyond, we have several exciting strategies to grow the Mule opportunity including new products and distribution outside traditional Reed's outlets.

For the second phase of our plan, in 2019, we aim to improve near-term financial performance and liquidity and further stimulate our growth through investment in our sales and brands. With more "feet on the street", we are building momentum driving sales and leveraging every aspect of our sales and marketing capabilities. We have uniquely differentiated, "best in class" products in fast growing categories and continue to drive innovation in the "better for you" beverage space. Consumer mega trends are in our favor, continuing to move toward natural, craft, functional ingredients, reduced sugar and health and wellness offerings.

At our 2018 Annual Meeting, we are seeking re-election of our board nominees, your approval to reload the company's treasury with an additional 30 million shares, your adoption of our expanded equity compensation plan and your ratification of our selection of Weinberg & Company, PA as our independent auditors. Good corporate governance dictates that we reserve authorized shares to take advantage of opportunities that may present themselves in the coming years and continue to attract team members with equity incentive compensation. We ask for your vote for our board nominees and to approve each other item presented to support our continued efforts to drive Reed's to the next level.

In closing, I would like to thank you, our shareholders, for your continued support. I would also like to thank our employees, customers, suppliers, business partners and co-packers for their support and commitment to our growth. There has never been a more exciting time to be a part of Reed's.

Drink Smart. Drink Real. Drink Reed's.

Onward and Upward!

/s/ John Bello Chairman

#### FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This statement contains forward-looking statements. These statements include projections, predictions, expectations or statements as to beliefs or future events or results or refer to other matters that are not historical facts.

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by these statements. The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on various factors and were derived using numerous assumptions. In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by the words "anticipate", "estimate", "plan", "project", "continuing", "ongoing", "t "aim", "expect", "believe", "intend", "may", "will", "should", "could", or the negative of those words and other comparable w You should be aware that those statements reflect only the predictions of Reed's Inc.'s management. If known or unknown risks or uncertainties should materialize, or if underlying assumptions should prove inaccurate, actual results could differ materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected. You should bear this in mind not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained in this statement are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements.

201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851

# NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON December 13, 2018

Dear	Stockholder:	
Dear	SIUCKHUIUCI.	

Notice is hereby given that the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Reed's, Inc. ("we", "us", "Reed's" or the "company") will be held at 12:00 p.m. Eastern time, on Thursday December 13, 2018 at 301 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851 to conduct the following items of business:

To elect John Bello, Valentin Stalowir, Daniel J. Doherty III, Christopher J. Reed, Lewis Jaffe, Scott R. Grossman 1. and James C. Bass to serve a one-year term until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their death, resignation, removal or disqualification;

- 2. To approve the Reed's, Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan;
- To amend Reed's certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000;
- 4. To ratify the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019; and
- 5. To transact such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

All of the above matters are more fully described in the accompanying Proxy Statement.

All holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on October 25, 2018, the record date, are entitled to notice of and to vote at this meeting and any adjournments or postponement thereof. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for inspection during the ten days prior to the Annual Meeting, during ordinary business hours, at Reed's principal executive office, as well as at the Annual Meeting.

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. Any stockholder attending the Annual Meeting may vote in person even if he or she has returned a proxy card.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, please cast your vote as instructed under "Voting Procedures" in the Proxy Statement as promptly as possible. You may vote over the Internet or by telephone as instructed on the notice or by mailing in your paper proxy card if you received one. If you did not receive a paper proxy card, you may request a paper proxy card to submit your vote by mail, if you prefer.

If you have any questions or require any additional information concerning this Proxy Statement, please contact Okapi Partners at the address set forth below.

1212 Avenue of the Americas, 24th Floor
New York, NY 10036
(212) 297-0720
Call Toll-Free at: (877) 259-6290
E-mail: info@okapipartners.com
By Order of the Board of Directors,
/s/ John Bello
John Bello Chairman
Norwalk, Connecticut November 13, 2018
Whether or not you intend to be present at the meeting, please sign and date the enclosed proxy and return it in the enclosed envelope or vote by telephone or online following the instructions on the proxy.
Important Notice Regarding the Internet Availability of Proxy Materials for
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on December 13, 2018

The Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 are available on the

Internet at www.okapivote.com/REEDS

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROCEDURAL INFORMATION	5
PROPOSAL 1: JOHN BELLO, VALENTIN STALOWIR, LEWIS JAFFE, DANIEL J. DOHERTY III, CHRISTOPHER J. REED, SCOTT R. GROSSMAN AND JAMES BASS TO SERVE A ONE-YEAR TERM UNTIL THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS ARE DULY ELECTED AND QUALIFIED OR UNTIL THEIR DEATH, RESIGNATION, REMOVAL OR DISQUALIFICATION	9
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	12
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	18
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS	20
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	25
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	27
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION	28
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	28
SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	30
PROPOSAL 2: ADOPTION OF THE REED'S, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATD 2017 INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN	30
ProPOSAL 3: AMENDMENT OF REED'S CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO INCREASE THE AUTHORIZED SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FROM 40,000,000 TO 70,000,000	35
PROPOSAL 4: RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF WEINBERG & COMPANY, P.A. AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2019	37
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT YEAR'S ANNUAL MEETING	39
OTHER MATTERS WHICH MAY BE PRESENTED FOR ACTION AT THE MEETING	40

The enclosed proxy is solicited by the board of directors ("Board") of Reed's, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for use at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Reed's, Inc. and all postponements, continuations or adjournments thereof. These proxy materials and the enclosed Annual Report on Form 10K ("Annual Report") for fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 ("2017 Fiscal Year") are being mailed to our stockholders on or about November 13, 2018. In this Proxy Statement, we use the terms the "company," "Reed's" "we", "our", and "us" to refer to Reed's, Inc.

#### PROCEDURAL INFORMATION

*Where and when is the Annual Meeting?* Our Annual Meeting will be held at 12:00 p.m. Eastern time, on Thursday December 13, 2018 at 301 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851.

Why did I receive these materials? You received this Proxy Statement because you held shares of our common stock on October 25, 2018, the record date fixed by our Board, and you are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. This Proxy Statement and a copy of our Annual Report will be mailed on or about November 13, 2018. Although the Proxy Statement and Annual Report are being mailed together, the Annual Report is not incorporated into, and should not be deemed part of, this Proxy Statement.

Who can attend the Annual Meeting? Only stockholders as of the record date, their authorized representatives, and invited guests will be able to attend the Annual Meeting.

Who is entitled to vote? Only holders of record of our common stock at the close of business on October 25, 2018, the record date, are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Each share is entitled to vote on each matter properly brought before the meeting. As of the record date, there were 25,660,211 shares of our common stock outstanding.

Who are the proxies? The Board has appointed Valentin Stalowir, our Chief Executive Officer and director, and Iris Snyder, our Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, to serve as proxies at the Annual Meeting. When you fill out your proxy card and return it, or if you vote electronically, you will be giving the proxies your instruction on how to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting.

How do I vote if I am a registered stockholder? You may vote in person, electronically via the Internet, or by proxy. Proxies are solicited to give all stockholders who are entitled to vote on the matters that come before the meeting the opportunity to do so whether or not they attend the meeting in person. If you are a registered holder, you can vote your proxy card by mail, electronically via the Internet www.okapivote.com/REED, or in person at the Annual Meeting. If you choose to vote by mail, mark your proxy card enclosed with this Proxy Statement, date and sign it, and mail it in

the postage-paid envelope. If you wish to vote in person, you can vote the proxy card in person at the Annual Meeting. Signing and returning a proxy will not prevent you from voting in person at the meeting.

*How do I vote electronically?* If you are a registered stockholder, you may vote electronically via the Internet at www.okapivote.com/REED. Please review the voting instructions on the proxy card.

How do I specify how I want my shares voted? If you are a registered stockholder, you can specify how you want your shares voted on each proposal by marking the appropriate boxes on the proxy card. Please review the voting instructions on the proxy card and read the entire text of the proposals and the positions of the Board in the Proxy Statement prior to marking your vote. If your proxy card is signed and returned without specifying a vote, it will be voted according to the recommendation of the Board on that proposal.

How do I vote if I am a beneficial stockholder? If you are a beneficial stockholder, you have the right to direct your broker or nominee on how to vote your shares. You should complete a voting instruction card which your broker or nominee is obligated to provide to you. If you wish to vote in person at the meeting, you must first obtain from the record holder a proxy card issued in your name.

What items will be voted upon at the Annual Meeting? The following items will be voted upon at the Annual Meeting:

- 1. the election of John Bello, Valentin Stalowir, Lewis Jaffe, Daniel J. Doherty III, Christopher J. Reed, Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass to serve a one-year term until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their death, resignation, removal or disqualification;
- 2. the adoption of the Reed's, Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan;
- 3. the amendment of Reed's certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000;
- 4. ratification of the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019; and
- 5. such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

The Board does not currently know of any other matters that may be brought before the meeting for a vote. However, if any other matters are properly presented for action, it is the intention of the persons named on the proxy card to vote on them according to their best judgment.

What is the Board's voting recommendation? For the reasons set forth in more detail later in the Proxy Statement, the Board unanimously recommends a vote **FOR** the election of all nominees for director proposed by our Board (Proposal No. 1). The Board has adopted the Reed's, Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan and unanimously recommends a vote **FOR** its adoption (Proposal No. 2). The Board unanimously recommends a vote **FOR** the amendment of Reed's certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000 (Proposal No. 3) .. The Board unanimously ratified the selection of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as the company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019 (Proposal No. 4) which selection was made by the company's audit committee.

Who will solicit proxies on behalf of the Board? The company has retained Okapi Partners, a proxy solicitation firm, who may solicit proxies on the Board's behalf. The original solicitation of proxies by mail may be supplemented by

telephone, telegram, facsimile, electronic mail, Internet and personal solicitation by our directors, director nominees and certain of our executive officers and other employees (who will receive no additional compensation for such solicitation activities), or by Okapi Partners. You may also be solicited by advertisements in periodicals, press releases issued by us and postings on our corporate website or other websites. Unless expressly indicated otherwise, information contained on our corporate website is not part of this Proxy Statement. In addition, none of the information on the other websites listed in this Proxy Statement is part of this Proxy Statement. These website addresses are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Who will pay for the costs involved in the solicitation of proxies? The entire cost of soliciting proxies on behalf of the Board, including the costs of preparing, assembling, printing and mailing this Proxy Statement, the proxy card and any additional soliciting materials furnished to stockholders by, or on behalf of, the company, will be borne by the company. Copies of the company's solicitation material will be furnished to banks, brokerage houses, dealers, voting trustees, their respective nominees and other agents holding shares in their names, which are beneficially owned by others, so that they may forward such solicitation material, together with our 2017 Annual Report to beneficial owners. In addition, if asked, the company will reimburse these persons for their reasonable expenses in forwarding these materials to the beneficial owners. We have engaged Okapi Partners to solicit proxies from stockholders in connection with the Annual Meeting. We will pay Okapi Partners a fee of up to \$8,500 plus costs and expenses. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify Okapi Partners and certain related persons against certain liabilities arising out of or in connection with their engagement.

Who can answer my questions? Your vote at this year's Annual Meeting is important, no matter how many or how few shares you own. Please sign and date the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form and return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope promptly or vote by Internet or telephone. If you have any questions or require assistance in submitting a proxy for your shares, please call Okapi Partners, the firm assisting us in the solicitation of proxies:

1212 Avenue of the Americas, 24th Floor

New York, NY 10036

(212) 297-0720

Call Toll-Free at: (877)259-6290

E-mail: info@okapipartners.com

**How can I obtain additional copies of these materials or copies of other documents?** Complete copies of this Proxy Statement and 2017 Annual Report are also available at: <a href="https://www.okapivote.com/REEDS">www.okapivote.com/REEDS</a>

You may also contact Okapi Partners for additional copies. You are encouraged to access and review all of the important information contained in the proxy materials before voting.

*How can I provide my comments to the company?* We urge you to let us know your comments about the company or to bring a particular matter to our attention by writing directly to us at Reed's, Inc., 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, attention: Iris Snyder, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary.

How many votes are needed to have the proposals pass? The affirmative vote of the majority of the votes present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to elect the directors (Proposal No. 1) and approve Proposal Nos. 2 and 4. The affirmative vote of the majority of votes outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting is required to approve Proposal Nos. 3, effecting amendments to the company's Certificate of Incorporation.

How are the votes counted? You will have one vote for each share of our common stock that you owned on the record date. If the proxy card is properly executed and returned prior to the Annual Meeting, the shares of common stock it represents will be voted as you instruct on the proxy card. If a proxy card is unmarked, or if you indicate no vote, the shares of common stock it represents will be voted FOR Proposal No. 1, the election of directors recommended by the Board, FOR Proposal No. 2, the adoption of the Reed's, Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan, FOR Proposal No. 3 amendment of Reed's certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock, and FOR Proposal No. 4, ratification of the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as the company's independent registered public accounting firm.

*No Cumulative Voting*. Holders of common stock shall not be entitled to cumulate their votes for the election of directors or any other matters.

*Abstentions*. In all matters abstentions have the same effect as votes "AGAINST" the matter. Abstentions will be counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at the annual meeting.

Broker Non-Votes. A broker is entitled to vote shares held for a beneficial owner on routine matters, such as the ratification of the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as the company's independent registered public accounting firm, without instructions from the beneficial owner of those shares. On the other hand, a broker is not entitled to vote shares held for a beneficial owner on non-routine items contained in the remaining proposals. Consequently, if you hold shares in street name and you do not submit any voting instructions to your broker, your broker may exercise its discretion to vote your shares on the proposal to ratify the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. If your shares are voted on this item as directed by your broker, your shares will constitute "broker non-votes" on each of the non-routine items. Broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the proposals to amend the company's certificate of incorporation but will not be counted in determining the outcome of the vote on each of the other non-routine items, although they will count for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.

*Quorum*. A majority of the shares of common stock outstanding on the record date, represented in person or by proxy, will constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. As of October 25, 2018 we had 25,660,211 shares of common stock outstanding. The number of shares required to be represented in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting to constitute a quorum is 12,830,106.

*How can I revoke my proxy?* You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the meeting by taking one of the following three actions:

- (1) giving timely written notice of the revocation to our Secretary,
- (2) executing and delivering a proxy card with a later date, or
- (3) voting in person at the meeting.

*How would my proxy be voted on other matters?* The persons named on the proxy card will have discretionary authority to vote on business *other than* Proposals 1-4 as may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

Who will pay for the costs involved in the solicitation of proxies? This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Reed's, Inc. Reed's will pay all costs of preparing, assembling, printing and distributing the proxy materials. Copies of proxy materials will be furnished to brokerage houses, nominees, fiduciaries and custodians to forward to beneficial owners of common stock held in their names. Our employees, officers and directors may, for no additional compensation, solicit proxies on behalf of the Board through the mail, in person and by telecommunications. Upon request, we will reimburse brokerage firms and other record holders for their reasonable expenses incurred for forwarding solicitation material to beneficial owners of stock.

Do stockholders have any dissenters' right with regards to the matters proposed to be acted upon? There are no rights of appraisal or other similar rights of dissenters under the laws of the State of Delaware with respect to any of the matters proposed to be acted upon herein.

Where can I find the voting results of the Annual Meeting? The final voting results will be reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K that we expect to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within four business days of the Annual Meeting, and that Form 8-K will be available on our website at http://reedsinc.com/investors/sec-filings/.

#### **IMPORTANT**

Please promptly vote and submit your proxy by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the postage-prepaid return envelope so that your shares can be voted. This will not limit your rights to attend or vote at the 2018 Annual Meeting.

Election of John Bello, Valentin Stalowir, Daniel J. Doherty III, Christopher J. Reed, Lewis Jaffe, PROPOSAL Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass to serve a one-year term as directors until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their death, resignation, removal or disqualification

Our Bylaws provide that the number of directors on the Board shall be not less than one or more than seven. The Board is empowered to fix the number of directors from time to time and it is currently set at seven. Proxies cannot be voted for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees named. The Compensation Committee of the Board nominated and the Board approved the nominations of seven persons to serve as directors until the 2018 annual meeting, or until each director's successor is elected and qualified. Each of the nominees has agreed to continue to

serve if elected. Management expects that each of the nominees will be available for election, but if any of them is not a candidate at the time the election occurs, it is intended that the proxies will be voted for the election of another nominee to be designated by the Board to fill any vacancy. Additionally, the Board may elect additional members of the Board to fill any additional vacancies.

#### The nominees are as follows:

Age	Position
54	Director, Chief Executive Officer
72	Chairman
61	Director
54	Director
60	Director, Chief Innovation Officer
40	Director
65	Director
	54 72 61 54 60 40

#### **Business Experience of Nominees**

Valentin Stalowir was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Reed's on June 28, 2017. Also on June 28, 2017, the Board of Reed's expanded the Board to six seats and appointed Mr. Stalowir to serve as a director, filling the newly created vacancy. Since November 2016, Mr. Stalowir has served as an independent food and beverage investment consultant working with varied consumer focused private equity groups. Prior, from April 2015 to November 2016, Mr. Stalowir served as Chief Executive Officer of privately held International Harvest, Inc., a leading supplier of certified organic, gluten free, non-GMO, vegan and raw superfoods. In 2011, Mr. Stalowir founded Global Restaurant Group, LLC (GRG) in Kyiv, Ukraine, a privately held, international quick serve restaurant operator and platform that is now YUM! Brands' lead KFC franchisee in Ukraine. Mr. Stalowir served as Chief Executive Officer of GRG until September 2014, when, due to political and economic challenges in Ukraine, much of the investment activity in the country was suspended. GRG continues to operate led by local management and recently announced the opening of an additional restaurant in the capital city of Kyiv. From 2010 to 2012, Mr. Stalowir served as Executive Partner of APTA Capital, LLC, a US private equity firm providing growth equity investments and operational leadership to consumer branded companies, From 2002 to 2010, Mr. Stalowir was Chief Executive Officer of Preferred Brand Holdings, LLC, a private equity fund backed by Emigrant Savings Bank, where he co-founded the consumer practice and led the investment and growth strategies for five portfolio companies in the food and beverage sector. From 1999 to 2001, he served as President, North American division of Tomra Systems, ASA, a publicly traded Norwegian company and the global leader for beverage container return and processing systems and reverse vending machines. Prior, Mr. Stalowir served in marketing and general management positions with the Coca-Cola Company and the Quaker Oats Company.

Mr. Stalowir earned his MBA in Marketing and Finance with Distinction from the University of Michigan in 1990 and received dual BA degrees in Economics and Art History from the College of William and Mary in 1985.

John Bello and has served as Reed's Board Chairman since his election on November 29, 2016. Mr. Bello is our sales and marketing expert. Since 2001, Mr. Bello has been the Managing Director of JoNa Ventures, a family venture fund. From 2004 to 2012 Mr. Bello also served as Principal and General Partner at Sherbrooke Capital, a venture capital group dedicated to investing in leading, early stage health and wellness companies. Mr. Bello is the founder and former CEO of South Beach Beverage Company, the maker of nutritionally enhanced teas and juices marketed under the brand name SoBe. The company was sold to PepsiCo in 2001 for \$370 million. In the same year Ernst and Young named Mr. Bello National Entrepreneur of the Year in the consumer products category for his work with SoBe. Before founding SoBe, Mr., Bello spent 14 years at National Football League Properties, the marketing arm of the NFL, and served as its President from 1986 to 1993.

Prior to working for the NFL, Mr. Bello served in marketing and strategic planning capacities at the Pepsi Cola Division of Pepsico Inc. and in product management roles for General Foods Corporation in the Sanka and Maxwell House brands. Mr. Bello has also worked with IZZE and Firefighter brands in brand building, marketing and strategic planning capacities.

Mr. Bello earned his BA from Tufts University, cum laude, and received his MBA from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College as an Edward Tuck Scholar. Mr. Bello is extensively involved in non-profit work and currently serves as a Tufts University Trustee and advisory board member (athletics). Additionally, he serves on the boards of: the Gordon Entrepreneurial Center at Tufts, the Tuck Center for Private Equity, the YMCA in Rye, New York and the New York Council Boy Scouts of America. Mr. Bello also serves on the board of Boathouse Sports and is executive director of Luminesce Eye Therapies.

Lewis Jaffe is our Board's governance expert, has served as a director of Reed's since his appointment on October 19, 2016, and is Chairman of the Governance Committee. Since August 2014, Mr. Jaffe has been teaching as an Executive-in-Residence and Clinical Faculty at the Fred Kiesner Center for Entrepreneurship, Loyola Marymount University. Since January 2010 Mr. Jaffe has served as Chairman of the Board for FitLife Brands Inc. (FTLF:OTCBB) and serves on its audit, compensation and governance committees. Since 2006 he has served on the Board of Directors of York Telecom, a private equity owned company, and serves on its compensation and governance committees. From 2006 to 2008 Mr. Jaffe was Interim Chief Executive Officer and President of Oxford Media, Inc. Mr. Jaffe has also served in executive management positions with Verso Technologies, Inc., Wireone Technologies, Inc., Picturetel Corporation, and he was also previously a Managing Director of Arthur Andersen. Mr. Jaffe was the co-founder of MovieMe Network. Mr. Jaffe also served on the Board of Directors of Benihana, Inc. as its lead independent director from 2004 to 2012.

Mr. Jaffe is a graduate of the Stanford Business School Executive Program, holds a Bachelor of Science from LaSalle University and holds a Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors, a public company director education and credentialing program.

Daniel J. Doherty III has served as Reed's director since January 10, 2018. He has been a principal of Eastern Real Estate, a real estate investment and development company, since July 2001. He is also a principal of Raptor/ Harbor Reeds, SPV, LLC ("Raptor"), the company's largest stockholder, which beneficially owns 27.64% of the company's outstanding equity securities, calculated pursuant to Rule 13d-3. Mr. Doherty has joint voting and dispositive control of the equity securities held by Raptor with another of its principals. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" beginning on page 18.

Christopher J. Reed founded our company in 1987 and has served as our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer since our incorporation in 1991 through April 19, 2017. Currently he serves as Chief Innovation Officer and director. Mr. Reed became interested in natural foods, yoga and meditation in 1977. He studied herbal systems of medicine from India and China and became enamored with ginger for its health properties. In 1987, Mr. Reed founded Reed's Inc. and set out to bring ginger to the world through a natural ginger ale brewed directly from fresh ginger root. From the inception of the company, Mr. Reed has been responsible for developing the original product recipes, proprietary brewing processes, packaging designs and marketing concepts behind our Reed's product lines. These include Reed's Ginger Brews, Reed's Culture Club Kombucha line, Reed's Natural Energy Elixir and Reed's Ginger Candies. In 2000 Reed's acquired Virgil's Root Beer, which Mr. Reed expanded by adding a Virgil's Cream Soda line, Real Cola, Dr. Better and a line of Virgil's stevia sweetened "Zero" beverages.

Prior to starting Reed's Inc., Mr. Reed was a chemical engineer working in gas purification and liquefaction with a specialty in designing liquefied natural gas (LNG) plants. Mr. Reed received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering in 1980 from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.

Scott R. Grossman was elected to the Board by the company's stockholders on September 29, 2017. He serves as Chairman of the Compensation Committee. He is Chief Executive Officer of Vindico Capital, a value-oriented investment firm focused on small-to-medium sized public companies undergoing change which he founded in April 2017. Prior to launching Vindico, Mr. Grossman spent over eleven years at Magnetar Capital, a multi-strategy alternative asset manager with approximately \$14BN AUM, where he most recently served as Senior Portfolio Manager within equities from 2014-2017. Prior to this role, Mr. Grossman served as Portfolio Manager within Magnetar's Event Driven business (2009-2013); Portfolio Manager of Special Situations (2007-2009); and he first joined its Fundamental Credit business in 2006. Before Magnetar, Mr. Grossman was an associate at Soros Private Equity Partners, a \$3.0 billion private equity business within Soros Fund Management focused on middle-market buyouts and late-stage growth investments across various industries. He started his career at Merrill Lynch in its Financials Sponsors Group within its investment banking division. Mr. Grossman is also a non-operating partner and current Board Member of Zeitguide, a privately-held research advisory business that educates leading executives and their teams on the transformational forces impacting culture and global businesses.

Mr. Grossman received an MBA from the Stanford Graduate School of Business and a BA from Columbia University where he graduated magna cum laude majoring in Economics.

James C. Bass was elected to the Board by the company's stockholders on September 29, 2017. He is the company's audit committee financial expert and serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee. is a seasoned Senior Level Financial Executive with diversified management experience in the consumer products, high technology and entertainment industries. From 1996 to July 2017 Mr. Bass served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at Sony Interactive Entertainment America, LLC in San Mateo, CA. Over his years at Sony, Mr. Bass became responsible for all financial operations and business performance, including information technology and facility management. Mr. Bass possesses a strong understanding of the retail sales environment and regulatory processes and has focused productively at Sony on inventory control and receivables management. Prior to his current tenure at Sony in San Mateo, Mr. Bass was Vice President of Finance for Sony in New York, New York. There he focused on winding down non-profitable ventures, building in-roads for future growth and identifying "back office" requirements of the worldwide division. Mr. Bass worked as controller for Wang Laboratories from 1991-1993. From 1977-1990, Mr. Bass worked for Bristol-Myers Squibb Company holding positions in finance and management in New York as well as Lisbon, Portugal and Bangkok, Thailand.

Mr. Bass has his BBA in Accounting and Financial Management from Pace University and was awarded his CPA certification in New York in 1977.

#### **Director Independence**

The Board has determined that four of our nominees, John Bello, Lewis Jaffe, Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass do not have relationships that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that each of these nominees is an "independent director" as defined under Section 803 of the of the NYSE American Company Guide.

### **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of the majority of the shares represented at the meeting and entitled to vote is required for the election of directors. Unless a stockholder indicates otherwise, each signed proxy will be voted **FOR** the election of these nominees.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" the election of Valentin Stalowir, John Bello, Lewis Jaffe, Daniel J. Doherty III, Christopher J. Reed, Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass as directors.

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

### **Board and Committee Meetings**

During the 2017 fiscal year, members of the Board met 18 times in various meetings. A majority of the directors and a majority of the independent directors attended all meetings. Each member of a committee of our Board attended at least 75% of their respective committee meetings during the period of service.

The company does not have a policy for Board meeting or committee meeting attendance because, pursuant to our Bylaws, members constituting a majority of directors constitute a quorum for meetings of the Board and a majority of our directors, including a majority of the independent directors, regularly attend all meetings.

### Attendance of Board Members at Annual Stockholders' Meeting

The company does not have a policy for attendance of Board members at annual stockholder's meetings.

#### **Board Structure and Committees**

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, our Board has seven directors and the following four standing committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Governance Committee and Operations Committee. The Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Governance Committee were formed in January 2007. The Operations Committee was formed in May 2017.

#### **Board Determination of Independence**

Under applicable NYSE American rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of the Board, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The Board determined that, of our current directors, John Bello, Lewis Jaffe, James C. Bass and Scott R. Grossman do not have relationships that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that each of these directors is an "independent director" as defined under the listing standards of the NYSE American and within the meaning of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, Section 301(3). We intend to maintain at least four independent directors on our Board at all times in the future. We intend to maintain independent directors constituting our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Governance Committee as well.

#### **Committees**

The Board established Audit, Compensation, Governance and Operations Committees. The Board has adopted a written charter for each of these four committees that address the make-up and functioning of the Board. The Board also adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of the company's directors, officers and employees. The committee charters and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are posted on our website at www.reedsinc.com.

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes, internal systems of accounting and financial controls, relationships with independent auditors and audits of financial statements. Specific responsibilities include the following:

selecting, hiring and terminating our independent auditors;

evaluating the qualifications, independence and performance of our independent auditors;

approving the audit and non-audit services to be performed by our independent auditors;

reviewing the design, implementation, adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls and critical accounting policies;

overseeing and monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to financial statements or accounting matters;

reviewing, with management and our independent auditors, any earnings announcements and other public announcements regarding our results of operations; and

preparing the audit committee report that the "SEC" requires in our annual proxy statement.

Our Audit Committee is comprised of Lewis Jaffe, Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass. James C. Bass serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee. We believe James C. Bass meets SEC requirements of an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, Section 407(b).

Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Committee assists our Board in determining and developing plans for the compensation of our officers, directors and employees. Our Compensation Committee is comprised of John Bello, Lewis Jaffe and Scott R. Grossman. Scott R. Grossman serves as Chairman of our Compensation Committee. In affirmatively determining the independence of a director who will serve on the compensation committee, the company's Board considered all factors specifically relevant to whether the director has a relationship to the company which is material to the director's ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a committee member, including, without limitation: (1) the source of compensation of the director, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee paid by the company; and (2) whether the director is affiliated with the company, or an affiliate of the company.

Specific responsibilities include the following:

approving the compensation and benefits of our executive officers;

reviewing the performance objectives and actual performance of our officers; and

administering our stock option and other equity compensation plans.

*Governance Committee*. Our Governance Committee assists the Board by identifying and recommending individuals qualified to become members of our Board, reviewing correspondence from our stockholders, and establishing, evaluating and overseeing our corporate governance guidelines. Our Governance Committee is currently comprised of John Bello, Lewis Jaffe and Scott R. Grossman. Lewis Jaffe serves as Chairman of the Governance Committee.

Specific responsibilities include the following:

evaluating the composition, size and governance of our Board and its committees and making recommendations regarding future planning and the appointment of directors to our committees;

establishing a policy for considering stockholder nominees for election to our Board; and

evaluating and recommending candidates for election to our Board.

*Operations Committee*. Our Operations Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for matters relating to the company's operations, particularly those aspects, which are most likely to affect stockholder value. Our Operations Committee is currently comprised of John Bello, Lewis Jaffe and Christopher J. Reed. In furtherance of this purpose, the Operations Committee has the following general oversight responsibilities:

Specific responsibilities include the following:

reviewing and providing strategic advice and counsel to the company regarding the business operations; and

presenting to the Board an independent assessment of the company's business operations as it relates to strategic initiatives.

### **Leadership Structure**

The business of our company is managed under the direction of the Board, whose members are elected by the company's stockholders. The basic responsibility of the Board is to lead the company by exercising its business judgment to act in what each director believes to be in the best interests of the company and its stockholders. Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions are separate. Our Board believes that separating Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions and having an independent director serve as Chairman is the appropriate leadership structure for us at this time and demonstrates our commitment to good corporate governance. Our Board is led by an independent Chairman, John Bello. Our Chief Executive Officer, Valentin Stalowir, also serves as a member of the Board. We believe that this leadership structure enhances the accountability of the Chief Executive Officer to the Board, strengthens the Board's independence from management and benefits independent risk oversight of the company's day-to-day risk management activities. In addition, separating these roles allows Mr. Stalowir to focus his efforts on running our business and managing the company in the best interests of our stockholders, while we are able to benefit from Mr. Bello's prior experience as a chairman of other company boards.

#### **Risk Oversight**

The Board is responsible for overseeing management and the business affairs of the company, which includes the oversight of risk. In exercising its oversight, the Board allocated some areas of focus to its committees and has retained areas of focus for itself. Pursuant to its charter, the Audit Committee is responsible for assuring that the Board is provided the information and resources to assess management's handling of the company's approach to risk management. The Audit Committee also has oversight responsibility for the company's financial risk (such as accounting, finance, internal control and tax strategy), and the Audit Committee or the full Board receives and reviews, as appropriate, the reports of the company's internal auditors regarding the results of their annual company-wide risk assessment and internal audit plan. Reports of all internal audits are provided to the Audit Committee. The Compensation Committee oversees compliance with the company's executive compensation plans and related laws and policies. The Governance Committee oversees compliance with governance-related laws and policies. The Board as a whole has responsibility for overseeing management's handling of the company's strategic and operational risks. Throughout the year, senior management reports to the Board the risks that may be material to the company, including those disclosed in the company's quarterly and annual reports filed with the SEC. The goal of these processes is to achieve serious and thoughtful Board-level attention to the nature of the material risks faced by the company and the adequacy of the company's risk management process and system. While the Board recognizes that the risks which the company faces are not static, and that it is not possible to mitigate all risk and uncertainty all of the time, the Board believes that the company's approach to managing its risks provides the Board with the proper foundation and oversight perspective with respect to management of the material risks facing the company.

### **Executive Sessions of Non-Management and Independent Directors**

During 2017, the company's non-management directors, all of whom are considered to be "independent" as defined under the listing standards of the NYSE American and within the meaning of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, Section 301(3), were provided with the opportunity to meet in executive sessions of the Board in which management directors and other members of management did not participate. At each audit committee meeting, the independent Board members are afforded time to ask questions of the auditors and/or hold private discussions without the company management present.

#### **Stockholder Communications with Our Board of Directors**

Our Board established a process for stockholders to communicate with the Board or with individual directors. Stockholders who wish to communicate with our Board or with individual directors should direct written correspondence to our principal executive offices located at 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, attention: Iris Snyder, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. Any such communication must contain:

a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of our capital stock;

the name and address, as they appear on our books, of the stockholder sending such communication; and

the class and number of shares of our capital stock that are beneficially owned by such stockholder.

Our Secretary will forward such communications to our Board or the specified individual director to whom the communication is directed unless such communication is unduly hostile, threatening, illegal or similarly inappropriate, in which case the Secretary has the authority to discard the communication or to take appropriate legal action regarding such communication.

#### **Nomination of Directors**

Our Governance Committee determines the required selection criteria and qualifications of director nominees based upon our needs at the time nominees are considered. In general, directors should possess the highest personal and professional ethics, integrity and values, and be committed to representing the long-term interests of our stockholders. Moreover, our Governance Committee will strive to ensure that at least one director meets the criteria for an "audit committee financial expert" as defined by SEC rules and that at least 50% of the directors comprising the Board meet the definition of "independent director" under NYSE American rules.

In addition to the above considerations, the Governance Committee will consider criteria such as strength of character and leadership skills; general business acumen and experience; broad knowledge of the industry; age; number of other board seats; and willingness to commit the necessary time to ensure an active board whose members work well together and possess the collective knowledge and expertise required by the Board. The Governance Committee will consider these same criteria for candidates regardless of whether the candidate was identified by the Governance Committee, by stockholders, or any other source.

The Governance Committee will consider qualified candidates for possible nomination that are submitted by our stockholders. Stockholders wishing to make such a submission may do so by sending the requisite information to the Governance Committee at the address indicated herein under the heading "Stockholder Communications with Our Board of Directors." Any recommendations submitted to the Chairman should be in writing and should include whatever supporting material the stockholder considers appropriate in support of that recommendation and must include the information that would be required under the rules of the SEC in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such candidate and a signed consent of the candidate to serve as a director of Reed's, if elected.

The Governance Committee conducts a process of making a preliminary assessment of each proposed nominee based upon the resume and biographical information provided, an indication of the candidate's willingness to serve and other background information, business experience, and leadership skills, all to the extent available and deemed relevant by the Governance Committee. This information is evaluated against the criteria set forth above and our specific needs at that time. Based upon a preliminary assessment of the candidate(s), those who appear best suited to meet our needs may be invited to participate in a series of interviews, which are used as a further means of evaluating potential candidates. On the basis of information learned during this process, the Governance Committee determines which candidate(s) to recommend to the Board to submit for election at the next stockholder meeting. The Governance Committee uses the same process for evaluating all candidates, regardless of the original source of the nomination.

Our goal is to seek to achieve a balance of knowledge and experience on our Board. To this end, we seek nominees with the highest professional and personal ethics and values, an understanding of our business and industry, diversity of business experience and expertise, a high level of education, broad-based business acumen, and the ability to think strategically. Although we use the criteria listed above as well as other criteria to evaluate potential nominees, we do

not have a stated minimum criterion for nominees. To date, we have not paid any third parties to assist us in finding director nominees.

#### **Audit Committee Report**

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of the company's filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), that might incorporate future filings, including this Proxy Statement, in whole or in part, the following audit committee report shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material," is not deemed "filed" with the SEC and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act or Exchange Act whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in such filing except to the extent that the company specifically requests that the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates it by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The primary purpose of the audit committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to matters involving the accounting, financial reporting and internal control functions of the company. The audit committee has sole authority to select the company's independent registered public accounting firm.

The audit committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm and other financial professional services providers. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Pre-approval generally is provided for up to one year and any pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and generally is subject to a specific budget. The company's independent registered public accounting firm and management report annually to the audit committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed.

Management is responsible for preparing the company's financial statements so that they comply with generally accepted accounting principles and fairly present the company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows; issuing financial reports that comply with the requirements of the SEC; and establishing and maintaining adequate internal control structures and procedures for financial reporting. The audit committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.

In furtherance of its role, the audit committee has an annual agenda, which includes periodic reviews of the company's internal controls and of areas of potential exposure for the company such as litigation matters. The Committee meets at least quarterly and reviews the company's interim financial results and earnings releases prior to their publication.

In this context, the audit committee has reviewed and discussed with management (i) the audited financial statements of the company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, (ii) the company's evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 and (iii) the related opinions by the company's independent registered public accounting firm. The audit committee also has discussed with Weinberg & Company, P.A. the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with audit committees), as currently in effect. The audit committee also has received written disclosures and a letter from Weinberg & Company, P.A. regarding its independence from the company as required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with audit committees) and has discussed with Weinberg & Company, P.A. the independence of that firm. Based upon these materials and discussions, the audit committee has recommended to the Board that the company's audited consolidated financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Chairman, James C. Bass Lewis Jaffe Scott R. Grossman

### **Certain Relationships and Related Transactions**

Our Board has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship between Reed's and one of our executive officers, directors, director nominees or 5% or greater stockholders (or their immediate family members), each of whom we refer to as a "related person," in which such related person has a direct or indirect material interest. If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, defined as a "related party transaction," the related party must report the proposed related party transaction to our Chief Financial Officer. The policy calls for the proposed related party transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by the Governance Committee. Our Governance Committee is comprised of Chairman Lewis Jaffe, John Bello and Scott R. Grossman. The Board has determined all of the members of the Governance Committee are independent under the rules of the NYSE American Company Guide. If practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the Governance Committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related party transaction. Any related party transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually at a minimum. The Governance Committee shall review future related party transactions.

*The related party transactions listed below were reviewed by the entire Board:* 

On April 21, 2017, pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, Reed's sold and issued a secured convertible subordinated non-redeemable note in the principal amount of \$3,400,000 and a warrant to purchase 1,416,667 shares of common stock to Raptor/ Harbor Reeds SPV LLC (referred to herein as "Raptor"). The note bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum, compounded monthly on a 360-day year/ 30-day month basis. The note is secured by a second priority security interest in the company's assets. The note may not be prepaid and originally matured on April 21, 2019. The maturity date was subsequently extended to April 21, 2021. The note may be converted, at any time and from time to time, into shares of common stock of the company. The original conversion price of the note was \$3.00, and this conversion price was subsequently reduced to \$1.75, and again to \$1.50. The warrant will expire on April 21, 2019 and had an original exercise price equal to \$4.00 per share, which exercise price was subsequently reduced to \$1.50. The note and warrant contain customary anti-dilution provisions and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the note and exercise of the warrant have been registered on Form S-1. Raptor was also granted a right to participate in future financing transactions of the company for a term of two years.

In connection with the issuance of the note, the company reimbursed Raptor direct costs totaling \$157,000 incurred to issue the note.

On July 13, 2017, the company entered into a warrant exercise agreement with Raptor to induce Raptor to purchase 766,667 shares of our common stock. The repriced warrants have an exercise price per share of \$1.50 and were revised to modify language pertaining to "Fundamental Transactions". Restrictions upon exercise were waived as to the repriced warrants. Reed's received gross proceeds of \$1,150,000 from Raptor's exercise of the repriced warrants. We also issued to the Raptor additional second tranche warrants to purchase up to 350,000 shares of our common stock and additional third tranche warrants to purchase up to 60,000 shares of our common stock. Second tranche warrants have a term of five years, may be exercised commencing 6 months from the date of issuance and have an exercise price equal to \$2.00. The third tranche warrants were exercisable immediately upon issuance for a term of five-years, with an exercise price equal to \$1.55. Raptor was also granted the right to appoint a non-voting observer to our Board for so long as Raptor or its affiliates is a beneficial owner of our stock. As of the date hereof, Raptor has not made such an appointment.

On December 6, 2017, the company entered into a backstop agreement with Raptor, whereby Raptor agreed to purchase from the company a minimum of \$6 million of units pursuant to its subscription rights and in a private placement, subject to customary terms and conditions. In the rights offering, Raptor exercised its basic and over-subscription rights to purchase 2,666,667 units and acquired 2,666,667 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 1,333,333 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$4,000,000. In addition, pursuant to the backstop commitment agreement, as amended, the company issued to Raptor warrants to purchase 750,000 shares of common stock. These warrants were originally issued with an exercise price of \$1.50, which exercise price was subsequently reduced to \$1.10 (as described below), are not exercisable for a term of 180 days from the date of issuance and have a cashless exercise feature and registration rights.

The related party transactions listed below were/ are being reviewed and ratified by the Governance Committee:

Subsequent to year end, in January 2018, the Board appointed Daniel J. Doherty III to serve as a director. Mr. Doherty is a principal and significant stockholder of Raptor, the company's largest stockholder. Mr. Doherty has joint voting and dispositive control of the equity securities held by Raptor with another of its principals.

On October 4, 2018, the company entered into a Finance Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. and closed on its new secured credit facility to replace its existing credit facility with PMC Financial Services, Inc. The new credit facility includes a permitted over-advance of \$4,000,000 that is guaranteed by Daniel J. Doherty, III and Daniel J. Doherty, III 2002 Family Trust (affiliates of Raptor; Daniel J. Doherty III is also a director of Reed's) through the issuance of an irrevocable stand-by-letter of credit in favor of Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. in amount not less than \$1,500,000 (the "LC"). The permitted over-advance is secured by all of Reed's intellectual property collateral. Pursuant to a Subordination Agreement between Raptor and Rosenthal, Inc., in the event of default under the

Financing Agreement, Raptor has a put option to purchase the entire aggregate amount of the outstanding permitted over-advance of up to \$4,000,000 at par plus accrued interest (without regard to any prepayment penalty or premium) from Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc., prior to Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. declaring a default under the Financing Agreement. If Raptor exercises the option, Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. will release its first priority security interest on all intellectual property collateral of Reed's to Raptor and terminate the LC. As part of the transaction, Raptor and Reed's amended Raptor's secured note and related purchase agreement to provide for advances up to \$4,000,000 under the put option. In addition, in consideration for the LC, the company reduced the exercise price of Raptor's warrant to purchase 750,000 shares of common stock of Reed's, which warrant was issued to Raptor for backstopping Reed's 2017 rights offering, from \$1.50 to \$1.10 per share of common stock.

Christopher J. Reed, the company's founder, director and Chief Innovation Officer is one of the participants bidding on plant and equipment being sold by Reed's as part of Reed's exit from manufacturing and related co-packing agreement between the winning bidder and Reed's.

There are no other transactions, since the beginning of fiscal 2017, or any currently proposed transaction, in which we were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeded or exceeds the lesser of \$120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other than compensation described under "Executive Compensation"). We believe the terms obtained or consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described above were comparable to or better than terms available or the amounts that would be paid or received, as applicable, in arm's-length transactions.

## EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The following section sets forth the names, ages, and current positions with the company held by the executive officers, directors and significant employees. There is no immediate family relationship between or among any of the executive officers or significant employees, and the company is not aware of any arrangement or understanding between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which he was elected to his or her current position.

Name	Position	Age
Valentin Stalowir	Director, Chief Executive Officer	54
Iris Snyder	Chief Financial Officer	43
Christopher J. Reed	Director, Chief Innovation Officer	60
Neal Cohane	Senior Vice President of Sales	57
Stefan Freeman	Chief Operating Officer	56
John Bello	Chairman of the Board, member of Compensation and Governance Committees	72
Daniel J. Doherty III	Director	54
Lewis Jaffe	Director, Chairman of the Governance Committee, member of Audit and Compensation Committees	61
James C. Bass	Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of Compensation Committee	65
Scott R. Grossman	Director, Chairman of the Compensation Committee and member of Audit and Governance Committees	40

## **Business Experience of Directors and Executive Officers**

Valentin Stalowir, Chief Executive Officer Valentin Stalowir was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Reed's on June 28, 2017. Also on June 28, 2017, the Board of Reed's also expanded the Board to six seats and appointed Mr. Stalowir to serve as a director, filling the newly created vacancy. Since November 2016, Mr. Stalowir has served as an independent food and beverage investment consultant working with varied consumer focused private equity groups. Prior, from April 2015 to November 2016, Mr. Stalowir served as Chief Executive Officer of privately held International Harvest, Inc., a leading supplier of certified organic, gluten free, non-GMO, vegan and raw superfoods. In 2011, Mr. Stalowir founded Global Restaurant Group, LLC (GRG) in Kyiv, Ukraine, a privately held, international quick serve restaurant operator and platform that is now YUM! Brands' lead KFC franchisee in Ukraine. Mr. Stalowir served as Chief Executive Officer of GRG until September 2014, when, due to political and economic challenges in Ukraine, much of the investment activity in the country was suspended. GRG LLC continues to operate led by local management and recently announced the opening of an additional restaurant in the capital city of Kyiv. From 2010 to 2012, Mr. Stalowir served as Executive Partner of APTA Capital, LLC, a US private equity firm providing growth equity investments and operational leadership to consumer branded companies. From 2002 to 2010, Mr. Stalowir was Chief Executive Officer of Preferred Brand Holdings, LLC, a private equity fund backed by Emigrant Savings Bank, where he co-founded the consumer practice and led the investment and growth strategies for five portfolio companies in the food and beverage sector. From 1999 to 2001, he served as President, North American division of Tomra Systems, ASA, a publicly traded Norwegian company and the global leader for beverage container return and processing systems and reverse vending machines. Prior, Mr. Stalowir served in marketing and general management positions with the Coca-Cola Company and the Quaker Oats Company.

Mr. Stalowir earned his MBA in Marketing and Finance with Distinction from the University of Michigan in 1990 and received dual BA degrees in Economics and Art History from the College of William and Mary in 1985.

*Iris Snyder* has served as Chief Financial Officer of Reed's since July 30, 2018. From July 2016 to March 2018, Iris Snyder served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for Stoli Group USA. In this position, Ms. Snyder headed Finance and Operations, integrating several wine and spirits brands into the portfolio during her tenure. During her tenure with Stoli, she also served as Vice President of Finance from January 2016 to June 2016 and FP & A Director from May 2014 to December 2015. Prior to her tenure with Stoli, Ms. Snyder served as Finance Director for Chobani from November 2013 to May 2014 and held other financial positions in multiple divisions for Diageo Plc, including the position of Finance Director from July 2012 to October 2013.

Mrs. Snyder earned her MBA in Finance Management & Strategy from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and received her BS in Industrial and Operations Engineering with distinction from the University of Michigan.

Christopher J. Reed founded our company in 1987. Since inception, Mr. Reed has served in the roles of Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and is currently our Chief Innovation Officer and non-independent Director since our incorporation in 1991. Mr. Reed also served as Chief Financial Officer during fiscal year 2007 until October 1, 2007 and again from April 17, 2008 to January 19, 2010. Mr. Reed remains a Director of the company with the election of John Bello as Chairman of the Board by fellow Board members. Mr. Reed has been responsible for our design and products, including the original product recipes, the proprietary brewing process and the packaging and marketing strategies. Mr. Reed received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering in 1980 from Rennselaer Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.

Neal Cohane, Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing has served as Reed's Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing since March of 2008 and previously Vice President of Sales since August 2007. From March 2001 until August 2007, Mr. Cohane served in various senior-level sales and executive positions for PepsiCo, most recently as Senior National Accounts Manager, Eastern Division. In this capacity, Mr. Cohane was responsible for all business development and sales activities within the Eastern Division. From March 2001 until November 2002, Mr. Cohane served as Business Development Manager, Non-Carbonated Division within PepsiCo where he was responsible for leading the non-carbonated category build-out across the Northeast Territory. From 1998 to March 2001, Mr. Cohane spent three years at South Beach Beverage Company, most recently as Vice President of Sales, Eastern Region. From 1986 to 1998, Mr. Cohane spent approximately twelve years at Coca-Cola of New York where he held various senior-level sales and managerial positions, most recently as General Manager New York. Mr. Cohane holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration from Merrimack College in North Andover, Massachusetts.

*Stefan Freeman*, Chief Operating Officer Stefan Freeman served as Interim Chief Executive Officer from April 2016 through June 2017 and has assumed the role of Chief Operating Officer since then. He is also Chairman of the

Compensation Committee. Mr. Freeman is a strategic and performance focused executive with more than 25 years in sales operations, manufacturing and supply chain operations in beverages and consumer products. Mr. Freeman has worked for the three largest soda companies in the world and was promoted within each company. From 2011 through 2014, Mr. Freeman was the Regional Vice President of Manufacturing for Coca-Cola Refreshments, managing eight manufacturing plants located throughout Southern California, Arizona and Hawaii. These plants produced 231 million cases with revenues in excess of \$500 million annually. In 2014 Mr. Freeman was promoted from within Coca-Cola Refreshments to Vice President of Fleet Operations in Atlanta, Georgia where he managed one of the five largest fleet operations in North America through April 2016. Prior to working for Coca-Cola, Mr. Freeman was Director of Supply Chain for Dean Foods' Pacific Coast Group, managing nine production facilities with responsibility for a \$155 million annual operating budget. Other prior positions include Director of Sales Operations for Dr. Pepper Snapple Group and Supply Chain Manager and Plant Manager for Pepsi-Cola Bottling Group.

Mr. Freeman hold a BS in mechanical engineering from Tuskegee University and is an active member of the Cisco Systems Global Manufacturing Advisory Board.

John Bello is Reed's Board Chairman and sales and marketing expert. Since 2001, Mr. Bello has been the Managing Director of JoNa Ventures, a family venture fund. From 2004 to 2012 Mr. Bello also served as Principal and General Partner at Sherbrooke Capital, a venture capital group dedicated to investing in leading, early stage health and wellness companies. Mr. Bello is the founder and former CEO of South Beach Beverage Company, the maker of nutritionally enhanced teas and juices marketed under the brand name SoBe. The company was sold to PepsiCo in 2001 for \$370 million and in the same year Ernst and Young named Mr. Bello National Entrepreneur of the Year in the consumer products category for his work with SoBe. Before founding SoBe, Bello spent 14 years at National Football League Properties, the marketing arm of the NFL and served as its President from 1986 to 1993. As the President, Mr. Bello has been credited for building NFL Properties into a sports marketing leader and creating the model by which every major sports league now operates.

Prior to working for the NFL, Mr. Bello served in marketing and strategic planning capacities at the Pepsi Cola Division of Pepsico Inc. and in product management roles for General Foods Corporation in the Sanka and Maxwell House brands. Mr. Bello has also worked with IZZE and Firefighter brands in brand building, marketing and strategic planning capacities.

Mr. Bello earned his BA from Tufts University, cum laude, and received his MBA from the Tuck School of business at Dartmouth College as an Edward Tuck Scholar. Mr. Bello is extensively involved in non-profit work and currently serves as a Tufts University Trustee and advisory board member (athletics). Additionally, he serves on the boards of: the Gordon Entrepreneurial Center at Tufts, the Tuck Center for Private Equity, the YMCA in Rye, New York and the New York Council Boy Scouts of America. Mr. Bello also serves on the board of Boathouse Sports and is executive director of Luminesce Eye Therapies.

*Daniel J. Doherty III*, Director Daniel was appointed by the Board on January 10, 2018 to serve as a director, filling a vacancy. Mr. Doherty has been a principal of Eastern Real Estate, a real estate investment and development company, since July 2001. He is also a principal of Raptor/ Harbor Reeds, SPV, LLC ("Raptor"), the company's largest stockholder, which beneficially owns 27.64% of the company's outstanding equity securities, calculated pursuant to Rule 13d-3. Mr. Doherty has joint voting and dispositive control of the equity securities held by Raptor with another of its principals. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" beginning on page 18.

*James C. Bass* is a Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Bass is retired from the position of Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Sony Interactive Entertainment America, LLC where he started in July of 2002. Mr. Bass joined the company as Vice President of Finance in November 1996. Mr. Bass has more than 25 years of financial and international management experience and was responsible for all the company's financial operations including general accounting and financial reporting,

planning, analysis and systems, treasury and risk management, purchasing, internal audit, and federal, state and local income taxes. Prior experience includes holding several senior management positions encompassing 14 years with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company gaining international experience running operations in parts of Asia and Europe.

Mr. Bass also spent two years at Wang Laboratories as a Divisional Controller. He started his career in New York at the public accounting firm, Haskins and Sells, now Deloitte & Touche. Mr. Bass received a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in accounting and finance from Pace University, New York City. He is a certified public accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Lewis Jaffe is a Director and Chairman of the Governance Committee and is also a member of the Audit and Compensation Committees. Since August 2014, Mr. Jaffe has been teaching as an Executive-in-Residence and Clinical Faculty at the Fred Kiesner Center for Entrepreneurship, Loyola Marymount University. Since January 2010 Mr. Jaffe has served as Chairman of the Board for FitLife Brands Inc (FTLF:OTCBB) and serves on its audit, compensation and governance committees. Since 2006 he has served on the board of directors of York Telecom, a private equity owned company, and serves on its compensation and governance committees. From 2006 to 2008 Mr. Jaffe was Interim Chief Executive Officer and President of Oxford Media, Inc. Mr. Jaffe has also served in executive management positions with Verso Technologies, Inc., Wireone Technologies, Inc., Picturetel Corporation, and he was also previously a Managing Director of Arthur Andersen. Mr. Jaffe was the co-founder of MovieMe Network. Mr. Jaffe also served on the Board of Directors of Benihana, Inc. as its lead independent director from 2004 to 2012.

Mr. Jaffe is a graduate of the Stanford Business School Executive Program, holds a Bachelor of Science from LaSalle University and holds a Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors, a public company director education and credentialing program.

Scott R. Grossman is a Director and Chairman of the Compensation Committee and is also a member of the Audit and Governance Committees. Mr. Grossman has nearly two decades of experience investing in and advising both public and private companies undergoing transformative change, including several companies in the consumer industry. Mr. Grossman is currently the founder and CEO of Vindico Capital LLC, a value-oriented investment firm that invests in public companies driving value-enhancing change, often in collaboration with management to provide advocacy and insights to help unlock value. Prior to Vindico, Mr. Grossman was a Senior Portfolio Manager at Magnetar Capital, a \$14 BN multi-strategy alternative asset management firm, where he first joined in 2006. For over a decade at Magnetar, Mr. Grossman focused on deep fundamental, value-oriented investing throughout the capital structure of both public and private companies in various industries. Prior to Magnetar, Mr. Grossman worked at Soros Fund Management in its Private Equity division and Merrill Lynch in its investment banking group. In addition, Mr. Grossman is a non-operating partner and current Board Member at Zeitguide, a privately-held research advisory firm that educates leading global executives and their teams on the transformational forces impacting culture and business. Mr. Grossman received an MBA from the Stanford Graduate School of Business and a BA from Columbia University where he majored in economics.

## **Legal Proceedings**

To the best of our knowledge, none of our executive officers or directors are parties to any material proceedings adverse to Reed's, have any material interest adverse to Reed's or have, during the past ten years been subject to legal or regulatory proceedings required to be disclosed hereunder.

## **Employment Agreements**

We entered into an at-will employment agreement with Valentin Stalowir to serve as the Chief Executive Officer of Reed's, effective as of June 28, 2017 and continuing thereafter unless terminated by either the company or Mr. Stalowir, with or without notice and with or without cause, pursuant to the terms of the agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. Stalowir receives a base salary at the initial rate of \$300,000 per year, automatically increasing by \$25,000 per year on each anniversary of the effective date until the base salary has reached \$350,000. Mr. Stalowir also receives a performance based cash bonus structure and has been granted equity comprised of stock options and/or restricted stock grants equal to 4% of Reed's outstanding common stock, on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of the effective date of the agreement. The Compensation Committee subsequently determined that the calculation of Mr. Stalowir's equity grants, in order to be equitable, should be based on 4% of Reed's outstanding common stock in March 2018 and additional equity grants have been made to Mr. Stalowir, subject to shareholder approval for the increase of the company's available authorized shares and increase of shares available under the company's active incentive compensation plan. Mr. Stalowir is also eligible to participate in the company's other benefit plans. The agreement provides for full acceleration of equity grants triggered by a "change of control", as defined in the agreement and contains confidentiality, invention assignment and non-solicitation covenants.

Iris Snyder is currently paid an annual salary of \$250,000. Stefan Freeman is currently paid an annual salary of \$225,000. Christopher J. Reed is currently paid an annual salary of \$227,000. Neal Cohane is paid an annual salary of \$210,000. Any bonuses are discretionary.

## **Code of Ethics**

Our Chief Executive Officer and all senior financial officers, including the Chief Financial Officer, are bound by a Code of Ethics that complies with Item 406 of Regulation S-B of the Exchange Act. Our Code of Ethics is posted on our website at www.reedsinc.com.

# **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

## Overview

The following table summarizes all compensation for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 received by our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer), current and former Chief Financial Officers (principal financial officers), current and former chief operating officers, and our current Senior Vice principal of Sales who were are our "Named Executive Officers" during the reported periods:

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Bonus	Awards		quity	Non- Qualified Deferred v€ompensa Earnings	Compensation	o <b>f</b> fotal
Valentin Stalowir Chief Executive Officer	2016 2017	- 150,000	-	-	-	-	-	- 10,500	- 160,500
Christopher J. Reed Chief Innovation Officer (Former Chief Executive Officer)	2016 2017	227,000 227,000	40,000	-		-	- -	4,320	271,320 227,000
Daniel V. Miles <i>Former</i> Chief Financial Officer (3)	2016 2017	175,000 175,000	40,000	-		-	-	4,320	219,320 175,000
Stefan Freeman Chief Operating Officer (Former Interim Chief Executive Officer)	2016 2017	155,192	-	-		-	-	- 5,100	0 160,292
Neal Cohane SVP sales	2016 2017	210,000 210,000	40,000	-		- -	-	12,000 3,000	262,000 213,000

<sup>(1)</sup> The amounts represent the fair value for share-based payment awards issued during the year. The award is calculated on the date of grant in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards, excluding any impact of assumed forfeiture rates.

<sup>(2)</sup> Other compensation includes both cash payments and the estimated value of the use of company assets.

(3) Mr. Miles resigned on July 31, 2018.

## **Employment Agreements**

The company has employment agreements with Mr. Stalowir, Chief Executive Officer and Stefan Freeman, Chief Operating Officer.

Pursuant to the employment agreement with Mr. Stalowir, Mr. Stalowir receives a base salary at the initial rate of \$300,000 per year, automatically increasing by \$25,000 per year on each anniversary of the effective date until the base salary has reached \$350,000. Mr. Stalowir also receives a performance based cash bonus structure and has been granted equity comprised of stock options and/or restricted stock grants equal to 4% of Reed's outstanding common stock, on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of the effective date of the agreement. The Compensation Committee subsequently determined that the calculation of Mr. Stalowir's equity grants, in order to be equitable, should be based on 4% of Reed's outstanding common stock in March 2018 and additional equity grants have been made to Mr. Stalowir, subject to shareholder approval for the increase of the company's available authorized shares and increase of shares available under the company's active incentive compensation plan. Mr. Stalowir is also eligible to participate in the company's other benefit plans. The agreement provides for full acceleration of equity grants triggered by a "change of control", as defined in the agreement and contains confidentiality, invention assignment and non-solicitation covenants.

Mr. Freeman receives a base salary of \$225,000 per year, a performance-based cash bonus structure and equity comprised of stock options and/or restricted stock grants. The base salary is subject to annual review for additional increase, but not decrease. Mr. Freeman is also eligible to participate in the company's other benefit plans. The agreement provides for full acceleration of equity grants triggered by a "change of control", as defined in the agreement and contains confidentiality, invention assignment and non-solicitation covenants.

As of December 31, 2017, Mr. Reed was paid an annual salary of \$227,000, Mr. Cohane was paid \$210,000. Any bonuses are discretionary.

# **Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End**

The following table sets forth information regarding unexercised options and equity incentive plan awards for each Named Executive Officer outstanding as of December 31, 2017:

Name and Position	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisab		Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Options	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date
Christopher J. Reed, Chief Innovation Officer	25,000	-	(1)	•	\$ 4.00	3/3/2018
	30,000	-	(2)	-	\$ 4.60	4/9/2019
	20,000	20,000	(4)		\$ 5.01	1/15/2020
Daniel V. Miles, <i>Former</i> Chief Financial Officer	100,000	-	(3)	-	\$ 5.01	5/8/2020
Neal Cohane, SVP Sales	30,000	-	(2)	-	\$ 4.00	3/3/2018
	30,000	-	(2)		\$ 4.60	4/9/2019
	20,000	20,000	(4)		\$ 5.01	1/15/2020
Stefan Freeman, Chief Operating Officer	19,950	10,050	(3)		\$ 3.74	10/1/2021

<sup>(1)</sup> These options vest 25% immediately and 25% per year.

<sup>(2)</sup> These options vest 33% per year.

<sup>(3)</sup> These options vest 50% per year.

<sup>(4)</sup> These options vest 25% per year.

# **DIRECTOR COMPENSATION**

The following table summarizes the compensation paid to our directors for the year ended December 31, 2017:

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash	Stock Awards	Option Awards (1)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation	All Other Compensation	Total
James C. Bass	\$-		\$39,245			\$39,245
John Bello	\$99,999		\$-			\$99,999
Lewis Jaffe	\$20,000		\$-			\$20,000
Scott R. Grossman	\$-		\$39,245			\$39,245
Stefan Freeman (2)	\$8,333		\$-			\$8,333

<sup>(1)</sup> The amounts represent the fair value for share-based payment awards issued during the year. The award is calculated on the date of grant in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards, excluding any impact of assumed forfeiture rates.

<sup>(2)</sup> Mr. Freeman was issued Option awards. Those awards are included in the Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End by Named Executive Officer.

## **EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION**

The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2017, with respect to equity securities authorized for issuance under compensation plans:

			Number of
	Number of		Securities
	Securities to	Weighted-	Remaining
	be Issued	Average	Available for
	Upon	Exercise	Future
	Exercise of	Price of	Issuance
Plan Category (1)	Outstanding	Outstanding	<b>Under Equity</b>
	Options and	Options and	Compensation
	Restricted	Restricted	Plans
	Stock	Stock	(excluding
	Awards	Awards (b)	securities
	(a)		reflected in
			Column (a)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders:			
Stock Options	677,500	\$ 4.31	-
Restricted Stock Awards	400,000	\$ -	-
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders	NA	NA	NA
TOTAL	1,077,500	\$ 2.71	3,087,500

On January 10, 2018, pursuant to its employment agreement with Valentin Stalowir dated June 28, 2017, the company's Board granted to Mr. Stalowir 371,218 restricted stock units and options to purchase 371,218 shares of stock. The securities are to be issued pursuant to Reed's 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. The options will have an exercise price of \$1.70. Other terms of the granted securities will be set by Reed's compensation committee in compliance with the 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. The Compensation Committee subsequently made additional equity grants to Mr. Stalowir, subject to shareholder approval for the increase of the company's available authorized shares and increase of shares available under the company's active incentive compensation plan.

## SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our shares of common stock beneficially owned as of October 25, 2018 for (i) each Named Executive Officer and director, and (ii) all Named Executive officers and directors as a group and (iii) each stockholder known to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock. A person is considered to beneficially own any shares (i) over which such person, directly or indirectly, exercises sole or shared voting or investment power or (ii) of which such person has the right to acquire

Number of

beneficial ownership at any time within 60 days through an exercise of stock options or warrants or otherwise. Unless otherwise indicated, voting and investment power relating to the shares shown in the table for our directors and executive officers is exercised solely by the beneficial owner or shared by the owner and the owner's spouse or children.

For purposes of this table, a person or group of persons is deemed to have "beneficial ownership" of any shares of common stock that such person has the right to acquire within 60 days of October 25, 2017. For purposes of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of our common stock held by each person or group of persons named above, any shares that such person or persons has the right to acquire within 60 days of October 25, 2017 is deemed to be outstanding but is not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The inclusion herein of any shares listed as beneficially owned does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership. Except as otherwise indicated below, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each listed executive officer and director is 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851.

Named Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares	Percentage of Shares	
Directors and Named Executive Officers	Beneficially	Beneficially	,
	Owned	Owned (1)	
Valentin Stalowir (2)	371,218	1.4	%
Iris Snyder	0	0	
Daniel J. Doherty III (3)	8,843,334	28.5	%
Christopher J. Reed (4)	2,515,890	9.8	%
John Bello (5)	1,187,521	4.6	%
Lewis Jaffe	135,545	*	
Stefan Freeman (6)	73,037	*	
Neal Cohane	285,677	1.1	%
James C. Bass (7)	81,412	*	
Scott R. Grossman	54,412	*	
Directors and Named Executive Officers as a group (10 persons)	13,548,046	45.4	%
5% or greater stockholders			
Judy Holloway Reed (8)	2,515,890	9.8	%
Robert T. Reed, Jr. (9)	910,000	3.5	%
Raptor/ Harbor Reed SPV LLC (10)	8,843,334	28.5	%

### \* Less than 1%.

- (1) Based on 25,660,211 shares outstanding as of October 25, 2018.
- (2) Includes 185,619 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.
- (3) Mr. Doherty has joint voting and dispositive control of the equity securities held by Raptor with another of its principals.
- (4) Christopher J. Reed, director and Chief Innovation Officer, and Judy Holloway Reed, Secretary of the company, our husband and wife and share beneficial own these shares. Christopher is Named Executive Officer; Judy Holloway Reed is not a Named Executive Officer.
- (5) Includes 60,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.
- (6) Includes 36,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.
- (7) Includes 10,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.
- (8) Judy Holloway Reed is the wife of Christopher J. Reed and exercises joint voting and dispositive control over these shares.
- (9) Principal address is 39950 De Portola Road, Temecula, CA 92592. Mr. Robert Reed, as Trustee of the Reed Family Irrevocable Trusts 1 and 2, exercises voting and dispositive control over 800,000 shares held by the trusts and is deemed to beneficially own the shares held by the trusts. Mr. Robert Reed also owns, individually, 110,000 shares

of common stock.

(10) Principal address is 280 Congress Street, 12<sup>th</sup> Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. Includes 3,143,333 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable warrants. Also includes 2,266,667 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Non-Redeemable Secured Promissory Note in the original principal amount of \$3,400,000.

## SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") requires our directors and executive officers and beneficial holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our equity securities.

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") requires our directors and executive officers and beneficial holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our equity securities.

To our knowledge, based solely upon a review of Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to Reed's under 17 CFR 240.16a-3(e) during our most recent fiscal year furnished to Reed's with respect to our most recent fiscal year or written representations from the reporting persons, we believe that during the year ended December 31, 2017 our directors, executive officers and persons who own more than 10% of our common stock complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements, with the exception of the following: Scott R. Grossman and James C. Bass each filed late a Form 3 and one late Form 4.

## PROPOSAL 2: Approval of the Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan

## Overview

The Board approved the Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan ("Plan"), subject to stockholder approval of both the amended Plan and Proposal No. 4 to increase the authorized shares of common stock of the company. The amendment increases the number of shares authorized under the Plan by 3,500,000 shares, deletes a provision giving the Compensation Committee discretion to determine policy for pledging of stock awards issued under the Plan with the effect of prohibiting pledging stock awards under the Plan altogether, and eliminates provisions no longer applicable in recognition of changes to Rule 162(m) enacted by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act that was signed into law in December 2017.

## **Outstanding Grants Issuable Under the Plan**

The Compensation Committee's grant of 381,486 restricted stock awards and stock options to purchase an additional 412,736 to Valentin Stalowir, Chief Executive Officer and Director, on March 28, 2018, is subject to stockholder approval of both the amended Plan and Proposal No. 4 to increase the authorized shares of common stock of the company. The restricted stock awards will vest one-half on each of June 28, 2019 and June 28, 2020. The options have an exercise price of \$1.60 and a term of four-years. One- half of the options are performance based and will vest based on criteria determined by the Board. The other half of the options will vest in equal increments annually. If requisite stockholder approval is obtained, the new grants will not be issued to Valentin Stalowir until January 2019 in order to comply with the limitations of the Plan.

The Compensation Committee's grant of stock options to purchase 446,000 shares of common stock to Iris Snyder, Chief Financial Officer, on July 9, 2018, is also subject to stockholder approval of both the amended Plan and Proposal No. 4 to increase the authorized shares of common stock of the company. The options have an exercise price of \$2.70 and a term of four-years. One- half of the options are performance based and will vest based on criteria determined by the Board. The other half of the options will vest in equal increments annually.

No other awards have been granted under the Plan subject to stockholder approval of both the amended Plan and Proposal No. 4 to increase the authorized shares of common stock of the company.

# Other Awards Anticipated in Near Future

The company does expect to grant awards for approximately 575,000 shares under the Plan to the company's new employees and service providers in the near future.

The Board believes it is in the best interests of the company and its stockholders to continue offering equity-based awards to its employees, directors and service providers. To have an appropriate supply of shares available for equity awards under the Plan to recruit, hire and retain the talent necessary to achieve strong performance in the future, our Board believes the company will need to reserve under the Plan the additional 3,500,000 shares for which shareholder approval is being requested.

## **Increase in Shares Available Under Plan**

The Company's 2015 Incentive Compensation Plan, the company's only other available stockholder approved equity compensation plan, has 27, 500 shares available. Thus, the 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan will be the company's only active employee equity plan, and as of October 28, 2018, we had approximately 30,229 shares remaining for issuance under the 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. If the shareholders approve the Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan, then we would have had approximately 1,877,720 shares available for the grant of new awards (after deductions of awards granted to Valentin Stalowir and Iris Snyder and awards expected to

be granted to new employees).

In determining the number of additional shares of common stock to allocate to the amended Plan, the Board considered various factors, including potential dilution, industry plan cost standards, historical grant practices and anticipated equity compensation needs, as well as information and guidelines from proxy advisory firms.

Based on our historical grant practices and our expectations for the equity programs going forward, the new shares requested for use under the amended Plan are expected to meet the company's equity grant needs for approximately two year. The shares reserved may, however, last for more or less than one year depending on currently unknown factors, such as the number of grant recipients, future grant practices, and the company's share price.

The Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation increases the number of shares authorized under the Plan by 3,500,000 shares.

# **Prohibition on Pledging**

Prior to amendment, the Plan provided that the Compensation Committee may permit options or other stock incentive awards that are not incentive stock options to be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of, on a general or specific basis, subject to such conditions and limitations as the Compensation Committee may determine in its discretion.

The Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation prohibits pledging of stock awards under the Plan.

## Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, signed into law on December 22, 2017, repealed exceptions from tax limitations for performance based and commission based pay and placed an effective cap on the amount a company can deduct for executive compensation at \$1 million-dollars for a company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other three most highly paid executives. These changes to Section 162(m) effectively eliminate our ability to deduct compensation in excess of \$1 million for an increased number of "covered employees" in a year and preclude the ability to preserve deductions by deferring compensation to a point when the individual is no longer a covered employee. All post-termination payments including severance, deferred compensation from nonqualified plans, and death payments received by a covered employee (or beneficiary) will be subject to the limitation.

The Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation reflects changes to the law enacted pursuant to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.

# **Summary of the 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan**

The following summary of the Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan, a copy of which is attached as <u>Appendix A</u> to this Proxy Statement.

# Highlights of the Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan

No "Evergreen" Provision	Shares authorized for issuance under the Plan are not automatically replenished.
No repricing of stock options or stock appreciation rights	The Plan prohibits the repricing of stock options without stockholder approval.
No discounted stock options	All stock options must have an exercise price greater than the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
Administered by an independent committee	The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board comprised of independent directors.
Individual Award Limit	Fair Market Value of \$1,000,000 to any Covered Employee in any calendar year.
No Pledging of Plan Stock Incentive Awards	Pledging of stock incentive awards is prohibited.

## **Purpose**

The Plan is intended to promote the interests of the company and its stockholders by providing employees, non-employee directors, consultants, and other selected service providers of the company, who are largely responsible for the management, growth, and protection of the business of the company, with incentives and rewards to encourage them to continue in the service of the company.

# **Eligibility**

The Persons who shall be eligible to receive awards pursuant to the Plan shall be those employees, non-employee directors, consultants, and other selected service providers of the company whom the committee shall select from time to time, including officers of the company, whether or not they are directors. Each award granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an award agreement.

# Administration

The Plan will be administered by a committee consisting of two or more persons, each of whom qualifies as a "non-employee director" (within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under section 16 of the Exchange Act), an "outside director" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.162-27(e)(3) and as "independent" as required by NYSE or any security exchange on which the company's common stock is listed, in each case if and to the extent required by applicable law or necessary to meet the requirements of such rule, section or listing requirement at the time of determination. The committee shall, consistent with the terms of the Plan, from time to time designate those individuals who shall be granted awards under the Plan and the amount, type, and other terms and conditions of such awards. All of the powers and responsibilities of the committee under the Plan may be delegated by the committee, in writing, to any subcommittee thereof, in which case the acts of such subcommittee shall be deemed to be acts of the committee hereunder. The committee may also from time to time authorize a subcommittee consisting of one or more members of the Board (including members who are employees of the company) or employees of the company to grant awards to persons who are not "executive officers" of the company (within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act), subject to such restrictions and limitations as the committee may specify and to the requirements of section 157 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

The committee shall have full discretionary authority to administer the Plan, including discretionary authority to interpret and construe any and all provisions of the Plan and any award agreement thereunder, and to adopt, amend, and rescind from time to time such rules and regulations for the administration of the Plan, including rules and regulations related to sub-plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws and/or qualifying for preferred tax treatment under applicable foreign tax laws, as the committee may deem necessary or appropriate. Decisions of the Committee shall be final, binding, and conclusive on all parties. For the avoidance of doubt, the committee may exercise all discretion granted to it under the Plan in a non-uniform manner among participants.

## **Types of Awards**;

## **Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Options**

The Plan allows for the issuance of incentive stock options intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code, nonstatutory stock options.

Optionees receive the right to purchase a specified number of shares of common stock at a specified option price and subject to such other terms and conditions as are specified in connection with the option grant. Only our employees may receive "incentive stock options" as defined in Section 422 of the Code. An option that is not intended to be an "incentive stock option" is a "nonstatutory stock option." Options may not be granted at an exercise price that is less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the effective date of grant. Under present law, incentive stock options may not be granted at an exercise price less than 110% of the fair market value in the case of stock options granted to optionees holding more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock or any of our subsidiaries. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, stock options may not be granted for a term in excess of 10 years (and, under present law, five years in the case of incentive stock options granted to optionees holding greater than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock or any of our subsidiaries).

## **Other Stock-Based Awards**

The Committee may from time to time grant equity-based or equity-related awards not otherwise described herein in such amounts and on such terms as it shall determine, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, each such "Other Stock-Based Award" may (i) involve the transfer of actual shares of common stock to Participants, either at the time of grant or thereafter, or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares of common stock, (ii) be subject to performance-based and/or service-based conditions, (iii) be in the form of stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, deferred share units, or share-denominated performance units, (iv) be designed to comply with applicable laws of jurisdictions other than the United States, and (v) be designed to qualify as performance based

compensation.

## Effective Date and Term of Plan

The original Plan was approved by our stockholders and became effective on September 29, 2017. The Plan as amended, will become effective December 13, 2018, subject to approval by our stockholders. No Awards shall be granted under the Plan after the expiration of 10 years from the effective date.

## **Federal Income Tax Consequences**

The following generally summarizes the United States federal income tax consequences that generally will arise with respect to Awards granted under the Plan. This summary is based on the federal tax laws in effect as of the date of this Proxy Statement. In addition, this summary assumes that all Awards are exempt from, or comply with, the rules under Section 409A of the Code regarding nonqualified deferred compensation. Changes to these laws or assumptions could alter the tax consequences described below.

Incentive Stock Options. A participant will not have income upon the grant of an incentive stock option. Also, except as described below, a participant will not have income upon exercise of an incentive stock option if the participant has been employed by us or our corporate parent or 50% or more-owned corporate subsidiary at all times beginning with the option grant date and ending three months before the date the participant exercises the option. If the participant has not been so employed during that time, then the participant will be taxed as described below under "Nonstatutory Stock Options." The exercise of an incentive stock option may subject the participant to the alternative minimum tax.

A participant will have income upon the sale of the stock acquired under an incentive stock option, which we refer to as ISO stock, at a profit (if sales proceeds exceed the exercise price). The type of income will depend on when the participant sells the ISO stock. If a participant sells the ISO stock more than two years after the option was granted and more than one year after the option was exercised, then all of the profit will be long-term capital gain. If a participant sells the ISO stock prior to satisfying these waiting periods, then the participant will have engaged in a disqualifying disposition and a portion of the profit will be ordinary income and a portion may be capital gain. This capital gain will be long-term if the participant has held the ISO stock for more than one year and otherwise will be short-term. If a participant sells the ISO stock at a loss (sales proceeds are less than the exercise price), then the loss will be a capital loss. This capital loss will be long-term if the participant held the ISO stock for more than one year and otherwise will be short-term. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, signed into law on December 22, 2017, repealed exceptions from tax limitations for performance based and commission based pay and placed an effective cap on the amount a company can deduct for executive compensation at \$1 million-dollars for a company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other three most highly paid executives. These changes to Section 162(m) effectively eliminate our ability to deduct compensation in excess of \$1 million for an increased number of "covered employees" in a year and preclude the ability to preserve deductions by deferring compensation to a point when the individual is no longer a covered employee. All post-termination payments including severance, deferred

compensation from nonqualified plans, and death payments received by a covered employee (or beneficiary) will be subject to the limitation.

Nonstatutory Stock Options. A participant will not have income upon the grant of a nonstatutory stock option. A participant will have compensation income upon the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option equal to the fair market value of the stock on the day the participant exercised the option less the exercise price. Upon sale of the stock, which we refer to as NSO stock, the participant will have capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the sales proceeds and the fair market value of the NSO stock on the day the option was exercised. This capital gain or loss will be long-term if the participant has held the NSO stock for more than one year and otherwise will be short-term.

Other Stock-Based Awards. The tax consequences associated with any Other Stock-Based Award granted under the Plan will vary depending on the specific terms of the Award. Among the relevant factors are whether or not the Award has a readily ascertainable fair market value, whether or not the Award is subject to forfeiture provisions or restrictions on transfer, the nature of the property to be received by the participant under the Award and the participant's holding period and tax basis for the Award or underlying common stock.

Tax Consequences to Reed's. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, signed into law on December 22, 2017, repealed exceptions from tax limitations for performance based and commission based pay and placed an effective cap on the amount a company can deduct for executive compensation at \$1 million-dollars for a company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other three most highly paid executives. These changes to Section 162(m) effectively eliminate Reed's ability to deduct compensation in excess of \$1 million for an increased number of "covered employees" in a year and preclude the ability to preserve deductions by deferring compensation to a point when the individual is no longer a covered employee. All post-termination payments including severance, deferred compensation from nonqualified plans, and death payments received by a covered employee (or beneficiary) will be subject to the limitation.

## **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of the majority of the shares represented at the meeting and entitled to vote is required for approval of the Amended and Restated Reed's Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" approval of this Proposal No. 2.

PROPOSAL Amendment of Reed's Inc. certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000 shares

## **Increase of Authorized Common Stock in General**

As of the record date, we had a total of 40,000,000 authorized shares of common stock, 25,660,211 issued and outstanding shares of common stock, 38,987,603 outstanding shares of common stock, on a fully diluted basis, taking into account shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and warrants and conversion of outstanding notes, and 57,729 shares available under the company's available incentive compensation plans.

The ability to issue equity is fundamental to our growth strategy:

In order to implement our growth strategy, we may raise additional financing through the issuance of equity securities.

The availability of equity incentive compensation is necessary for the company to attract and retain attract, retain and motivate the most high-performing executives and key employees who ultimately drive company performance. We currently do not an adequate number of shares available for reservation or issuance for equity compensation grants.

Our Board adopted a resolution seeking authorization of our stockholders to amend our certificate of incorporation (the "Charter") to increase our number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000 shares (the "Increase"). It is proposed that Article IV of the company's Charter be amended to read in its entirety as follows:

"Section 1. The total number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation is authorized to issue is Seventy Two Million Five Hundred Thousand (72,000,500), of which Seventy Million (70,000,000) shall be shares of Common Stock having a par value of \$.0001 per share, Five Hundred Thousand (500,000) shall be shares of Preferred Stock having a par value of \$10.00 per share, and Two Million (2,000,000) shall be shares of Preferred Stock having a par value of \$0.01 per share. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors is hereby authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by law, to fix by resolution or resolutions the designations, powers, preferences, and rights and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, of each such series of Preferred Stock, including without limitation, authority to fix by resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, and liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued series of Preferred Stock, and the number of shares constituting such series and the designation thereof, or any of the foregoing. The Board of Directors is further authorized to increase (but not above the total number of authorized shares of the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of any series, the number of

which was fixed by it, subsequent to the issue of shares of such series then outstanding, subject to the powers, preferences, and rights and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions thereof stated in the resolution of the Board of Directors originally fixing the number of shares of such series. If the number of shares of any series is so decreased, then the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series."

To effect the Increase as proposed, we will file an amendment to our Charter, with the Secretary of State of Delaware, substantially in the form as set forth above, providing that our authorized common stock will be 70,000,000 shares.

Of the additional authorized shares, 3,500,000 will be reserved for issuance under the company's Amended and Restated 2017 Reed's Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan, as further described Proposal No. 2, assuming Proposal 2 is approved by the stockholders. The remainder will be available for issuance from time to time to enable us to respond to future business opportunities requiring the issuance of shares, including common stock-based financings, acquisition or strategic joint venture transactions involving the issuance of common stock, and for other general purposes that the Board may deem advisable. We are seeking approval for the amendment at this time because we are currently seeking opportunities that may require prompt action, and the Board believes the delay and expense in seeking approval for additional authorized common stock at a special meeting of stockholders could deprive us of the ability to take advantage of potential opportunities. Without an increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock, the company may be constrained in its ability to raise capital and may lose important business opportunities, which could adversely affect our financial performance and growth.

The Board does not intend to issue any common stock except on terms that the Board deems to be in the best interests of the company and its then existing stockholders.

If the stockholders do not approve this Proposal, then the company will not have needed additional shares available.

# **Certain Disadvantages of the Increase**

If the authorized number of shares of common stock increases from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000 shares as proposed by this Proposal No. 3, the company will be able to issue more shares of common stock which could result in additional dilution to current stockholders and which could have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.

## **Principal Effects of the Increase**

The Increase will affect all of our holders of common stock uniformly and will not affect any stockholder's percentage ownership interests in our company. We will continue to be subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

## **Anti-Takeover Effects**

Release No. 34-15230 of the staff of the Securities Exchange Commission requires disclosure and discussion of the effects of any proposal that may be used as an anti-takeover device. Although not a factor in the decision by our Board to effect the Increase, one of the effects of having increased additional shares of our authorized common stock available for issuance may be to enable the Board to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of the company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of then present management. Unless prohibited by the regulations of applicable law or other agreements or restrictions, a sale of shares of common stock by us or other transactions in which the number of our outstanding shares of common stock would be increased could dilute the interest of a party attempting to obtain control of us. The increase in available authorized common stock may make it more difficult for, prevent or deter a third-party from acquiring control of the company or changing our Board and management, as well as inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our shares that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts.

The Increase is not being proposed in response to any effort of which we are aware to accumulate shares of common stock or obtain control of the company. While it is possible that our management could use the Increase to resist or frustrate a third-party transaction providing an above-market premium that is favored by a majority of stockholders, we do not intend to construct or enable any anti-takeover defense or mechanism on its behalf. We have no intent or plans to employ the Increase as an anti-takeover device and do not have any plans or proposals to adopt any other provisions or enter into other arrangements that may have material anti-takeover consequences.

In addition to the Increase, provisions of our governing documents and applicable provisions of Delaware law may also have anti-takeover effects, making it more difficult for or preventing a third-party from acquiring control of the company or changing our Board and management. These provisions may also have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in the company's control or in our management.

The Charter and bylaws do not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. The combination of the present ownership by a relative few stockholders of a significant portion of the company's voting capital stock and lack of cumulative voting makes it more difficult for other stockholders to replace the members of the Board or for another party to obtain control of the company by replacing our Board.

# Potential Consequences if Stockholder Approval is Obtained

The potential future issuances and sales of shares of our common stock would likely have a dilutive effect on a stockholder's percentage voting power and, consequently, could lead to a decrease in the market price of our common stock.

# **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock is required to amend our Charter to effect an increase in its authorized common stock from 40,000,000 to 70,000,000 shares.

The Board unanimously recommends a vote "FOR" approval of this Proposal No. 3.

# PROPOSAL Ratification of the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as independent registered public accounting firm

The audit committee has reappointed Weinberg & Company, P.A. to audit our consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2019. Weinberg & Company, P.A., an independent registered public accounting firm, has served as our independent auditor continuously since 2009. A representative from Weinberg & Company, P.A. LP is not expected to be present at the annual meeting.

Although stockholder ratification of the appointment is not required by law, we desire to solicit such ratification as a matter of good corporate governance. If the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. is not approved by a majority of the shares cast at the annual meeting, the audit committee will consider the appointment of another independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2019.

## **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of the majority of the shares represented at the meeting and entitled to vote is required for the election of directors. is required to ratify the appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as independent registered public accounting firm.

The Board recommends a vote "for" ratification of the

appointment of Weinberg & Company, P.A. as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019.

## **Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fee Information**

Weinberg & Company, P.A. ("Weinberg") was our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued by us for the audit and other services provided by Weinberg for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

2017 2016

Audit Fees \$170,392 \$105,382

Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees 24,800 30,902

All Other Fees 85,089 
Total \$280,281 \$136,284

As defined by the SEC, (i) "audit fees" are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for the audit of our annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in our Form 10-K, or for services that are normally provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years; (ii) "audit-related fees" are fees for assurance and related services by our principal accountant that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported under "audit fees;" (iii) "tax fees" are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning; and (iv) "all other fees" are fees for products and services provided by our principal accountant, other than the services reported under "audit fees," "audit-related fees," and "tax fees."

## **Audit Fees**

Weinberg provided services for the audits of our financial statements and limited reviews of the financial statements included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

A	ndi	t R	el	ated	Fees

Weinberg did not provide any professional services which would be considered "audit related fees."

#### **Tax Fees**

Weinberg prepared our 2017 and 2016 Federal and state income taxes.

## **All Other Fees**

Services provided by Weinberg with respect to the filing of various registration statements made throughout the year including the 2017 stockholder rights offering are considered "all other fees."

## **Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures**

Under the SEC's rules, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm in order to ensure that they do not impair the auditors' independence. The Commission's rules specify the types of non-audit services that an independent auditor may not provide to its audit client and establish the Audit Committee's responsibility for administration of the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm.

Consistent with the SEC's rules, the Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee review and pre-approve all audit services and permitted non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm to us or any of our subsidiaries. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to a member of the Audit Committee and if it does, the decisions of that member must be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. Accordingly, 100% of audit services and non-audit services described in this Item 14 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

There were no hours expended on the principal accountant's engagement to audit the registrant's financial statements for the most recent fiscal year that were attributed to work performed by persons other than the principal accountant's full-time, permanent employees.

## HOUSEHOLDING

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (such as banks and brokers) to satisfy the delivery requirements for proxy statements and annual reports with respect to two or more stockholders sharing the same address by delivering a single proxy statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials addressed to those stockholders. This practice, known as "householding", is designed to reduce the volume of duplicate information and reduce printing and postage costs.

If you and others who share your mailing address own our common stock in street name, meaning through bank or brokerage accounts, you may have received a notice that your household will receive only one annual report and proxy statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials from each company whose stock is held in such accounts. Unless you responded that you did not want to participate in householding, you were deemed to have consented to it and a single copy of our proxy statement and annual report or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials has been sent to your address.

We will promptly deliver separate copies of our proxy statement and annual report at the request of any stockholder who is in a household that participates in the householding of our proxy materials. You may send your request by mail to Reed's Inc., 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, attention: Iris Snyder, Chief Executive Officer and Secretary, or by telephone at (203) 890-0557.

#### STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT YEAR'S ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholder proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement: If a stockholder wishes to present a proposal to be included in our proxy statement and form of proxy for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the proponent and the proposal must comply with the proxy proposal submission rules of the SEC and namely, Securities Exchange Act Rule 14a-8. One of the requirements is that the proposal be received by our Secretary no later than July 16, 2019, which is 120 calendar days before November 13, 2019 - the anniversary date of this Proxy Statement was released to stockholders in connection with the 2018 Annual Meeting. If the date of next year's annual meeting is changed by more than 30 days from the anniversary date of this year's Annual Meeting on December 13, 2018, then the deadline is a reasonable time before we begin to print and mail proxy materials. Proposals we receive after that date will not be included in the proxy statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Other stockholder proposals: A stockholder proposal not included in our proxy statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will not be eligible for presentation at the meeting unless the stockholder gives timely notice of the proposal in writing to our Secretary at our principal executive offices and otherwise complies with the provisions of our bylaws. The bylaws provide that we must have received the stockholder's notice nor more than 120 days in advance of the one-year anniversary of the date of the previous year's Annual Meeting of Stockholders. To be timely, a stockholder proposal not included in our proxy statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be received by our Secretary no later than August 15, 2018, provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, such notice will be timely only if so delivered or mailed and received no later than the later of one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the date of the meeting or ten (10) days after the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting. Except to the extent otherwise required by law, the adjournment of a meeting of stockholders shall not commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder's notice as describe above. The presiding officer of the meeting may refuse to acknowledge any matter not made in compliance with the foregoing procedure and provisions of our bylaws.

We urge stockholders to submit all proposals by Certified Mail - Return Receipt Requested. Stockholder proposals should be sent to Reed's Inc., 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, attention: Iris Snyder, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary.

#### STOCKHOLDER ADVISORY VOTES

The current frequency of stockholder advisory vote on the compensation paid to our Named Executive Officers is every three years. The next stockholder advisory vote on the compensation paid to our Named Executive Officers and on how frequently we should seek approval from our stockholders, on an advisory basis, of the compensation paid to our Named Executive Officers will occur at the company's 2019 annual meeting.

#### OTHER MATTERS WHICH MAY BE PRESENTED FOR ACTION AT THE MEETING

The Board does not intend to present for action at this annual meeting any matter other than those specifically set forth in the Notice of Annual Meeting. If any other matter is properly presented for action at the annual meeting, it is the intention of persons named in the proxy to vote thereon in accordance with their judgment pursuant to the discretionary authority conferred by the proxy.

If you have any questions or require any additional information concerning this Proxy Statement, please contact Okapi Partners at the address set forth below.

1212 Avenue of the Americas, 24th Floor

New York, NY 10036

(212) 297-0720

Call Toll-Free at: (877) 259-6290

E-mail: info@okapipartners.com

By Order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ John Bello John Bello Chairman

40

APPENDIX A
Reed's Inc.
Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan
1. <u>Purpose of the Plan</u>
This Plan is intended to promote the interests of the Company (as defined below) and its shareholders by providing employees, non-employee directors, consultants, and other selected service providers of the Company, who are largely responsible for the management, growth, and protection of the business of the Company, with incentives and rewards to encourage them to continue in the service of the Company.
2. <u>Definitions</u>
As used in the Plan or in any instrument governing the terms of any award granted under the Plan, the following definitions apply to the terms indicated below:
(a) "Award Agreement" means a written agreement, in a form determined by the Committee from time to time, entered into by each Participant and the Company, evidencing the grant of a Stock Incentive Award under the Plan.
(b) "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of Reed's Inc., a Delaware corporation.
(c) "Change-in-Control": "Change-in-Control" means (i) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group (as defined under Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(5)(v)(B)) other than the Company or any employee benefit plan sponsored by the Company acquires ownership of stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than fifty percent of the total fair market value or total Voting Power of the stock of the Company; or (ii) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group (as defined under Treasury Regulation §

1.409A-3(i)(5)(v)(B)) other than the Company or any employee benefit plan sponsored by the Company acquires (or

has acquired during the twelve-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) ownership of stock of the Company possessing thirty percent or more of the total Voting Power of the stock of the Company; or (iii) a majority of members of the Board of Directors is replaced during any twelve-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors before the date of each appointment or election; or (iv) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group (as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(5)(v)(B)) acquires (or has acquired during the twelve-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than forty percent of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately before such acquisition or acquisitions. For purposes of subsection (iv), gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets. The foregoing subsections (i) through (iv) shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the Treasury Regulations promulgated pursuant to section 409A of the Code so that all, and only, such transactions or events that could qualify as a "change-in-control event" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(5)(i) will be deemed to be a Change-in-Control for purposes of this Plan.

(d) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and all regulations, interpretations, and administrative guidance issued thereunder.

- (e) "Committee" means the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, a sub-committee of the Compensation Committee, or such other committee as the Board of Directors shall appoint from time to time to administer the Plan and to otherwise exercise and perform the authority and functions assigned to the Committee under the terms of the Plan.
- (f) "Common Stock" means the Company's common stock, \$0.0001 par value per share, or any other security into which the common stock shall be changed pursuant to the adjustment provisions of Section 9 of the Plan.
- (g) "Company" means Reed's Inc., a Delaware corporation, and all of its Subsidiaries, collectively.
- (h) "Covered Employee" means each Participant who is described in section 162(m)(3) of the Code with respect to the Company.
- (i) "Deferred Compensation Plan" means any plan, agreement, or arrangement maintained by the Company from time to time that provides opportunities for deferral of compensation.
- (j) "Effective Date" means the date the Plan is approved by shareholders of the Company.
- (k) "Employment" means the period during which an individual is classified or treated by the Company as an employee, non-employee director, consultant, or other service provider of the Company, as applicable.
- (1) "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- (m) "Fair Market Value" means, with respect to a share of Common Stock, as of the applicable date of determination or if the market is not open for trading on such date, the immediately preceding day on which the market is open for trading, the closing price as reported on the date of determination on the principal securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are then listed or admitted to trading (or if shares of Common Stock are then principally traded on a national securities exchange, in the reported "composite transactions" for such exchange). In the event that the price of a share of Common Stock shall not be so reported, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. "Fair Market Value" of an Option or Other Stock Based Award is as determined by the Committee pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles.

(n) "Option" means a stock option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 6.
(o) "Other Stock-Based Award" means an award granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 7.
(p) "Participant" means an employee, consultant or director of the Company who is eligible to participate in the Plan and to whom one or more Stock Incentive Awards have been granted pursuant to the Plan and have not been fully settled or cancelled and, following the death of any such Person, his successors, heirs, executors, and administrators, as the case may be.
(q) "Performance-Based Compensation" means compensation payable pursuant to a written binding contract which was in effect on November 2, 2017 and which satisfies the requirements of section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act) for "qualified performance-based compensation."
(r) "Person" means a "person" as such term is used in section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act, including any "group" within the meaning of section 13(d)(3) under the Exchange Act.
(s) "Plan" means the Reed's Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan, as it may be amended from time to time.
(t) "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
(u) "Stock Incentive Award" means an Option or Other Stock-Based Award granted pursuant to the terms of the Plan.
(v) "Subsidiary" means any "subsidiary" within the meaning of Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

- (w) "Target Award" means target payout amount for a Stock Incentive Award.
- (x) "Tax Cuts and Jobs Act" means the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Public Law 115-67).
- (y) "Voting Power" means the number of votes available to be cast (determined by reference to the maximum number of votes entitled to be cast by the holders of Voting Securities, or by the holders of any Voting Securities for which other Voting Securities may be convertible, exercisable, or exchangeable, upon any matter submitted to shareholders where the holders of all Voting Securities vote together as a single class) by the holders of Voting Securities.
- (z) "Voting Securities" means any securities or other ownership interests of an entity entitled, or which may be entitled, to matters submitted to Persons holding such securities or other ownership interests in such entity generally (whether or not entitled to vote in the general election of directors), or securities or other ownership interests which are convertible into, or exercisable in exchange for, such Voting Securities, whether or not subject to the passage of time or any contingency.
- (aa) "Reed's" means Reed's, Inc., a Delaware corporation (and any successor thereto).
- 3. Stock Subject to the Plan
- (a) Stock Subject to the Plan

The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be covered by Stock Incentive Awards granted under the Plan shall not exceed 6,500,000 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate. Out of such aggregate, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be covered by Options that are designated as "incentive stock options" within the meaning of section 422 of the Code shall not exceed 6,500,000 shares of Common Stock. The maximum number of shares referred to in the preceding sentences of this Section 3(a) shall in each case be subject to adjustment as provided in Section 9 and the following provisions of this Section 3. Of the shares described, one hundred percent may be delivered in connection with "full-value Awards," meaning Stock Incentive Awards other than Options or stock appreciation rights; provided, however, that any shares granted under Options or stock appreciation rights shall be counted against the share limit on a one-for-one basis and any shares granted as full-value Stock Incentive Awards shall be counted against the share limit as one share for every one share subject to such Stock Incentive Award. Shares of Common Stock issued under the Plan may be authorized and unissued shares, treasury shares, shares purchased by the Company in the open market, or any combination of the preceding categories as the Committee determines in its sole discretion.

For purposes of the preceding paragraph, shares of Common Stock covered by Stock Incentive Awards shall only be counted as used to the extent they are actually issued and delivered to a Participant (or such Participant's permitted transferees as described in the Plan) pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that if a Stock Incentive Award is settled for cash or if shares of Common Stock are withheld to pay the exercise price of an Option or to satisfy any tax withholding requirement in connection with a Stock Incentive Award, the shares issued (if any) in connection with such settlement, the shares in respect of which the Stock Incentive Award was cash-settled, and the shares withheld, will be deemed delivered for purposes of determining the number of shares of Common Stock that are available for delivery under the Plan. In addition, if shares of Common Stock are issued subject to conditions which may result in the forfeiture, cancellation, or return of such shares to the Company, any portion of the shares forfeited, cancelled or returned shall be treated as not issued pursuant to the Plan. In addition, if shares of Common Stock owned by a Participant (or such Participant's permitted transferees as described in the Plan) are tendered (either actually or through attestation) to the Company in payment of any obligation in connection with a Stock Incentive Award, the number of shares tendered shall be added to the number of shares of Common Stock that are available for delivery under the Plan.

Shares of Common Stock covered by Stock Incentive Awards granted pursuant to the Plan in connection with the assumption, replacement, conversion, or adjustment of outstanding equity-based awards in the context of a corporate acquisition or merger (within the meaning of section 303A.08 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual) shall not count as used under the Plan for purposes of this Section 3.

#### (b) **Individual Award Limits**

Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 9, the Fair Market Value of Stock Incentive Awards issued under the Plan to any Covered Employee in any calendar year shall not exceed \$1,000,000.

#### 4. Administration of the Plan

The Plan shall be administered by a Committee consisting of two or more persons, each of whom qualifies as a "non-employee director" (within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under section 16 of the Exchange Act), an "outside director" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.162-27(e)(3) and as "independent" as required by NYSE or any security exchange on which the Common Stock is listed, in each case if and to the extent required by applicable law or necessary to meet the requirements of such rule, section or listing requirement at the time of determination. The Committee shall, consistent with the terms of the Plan, from time to time designate those individuals who shall be granted Stock Incentive Awards under the Plan and the amount, type, and other terms and conditions of such Stock Incentive Awards. All of the powers and responsibilities of the Committee under the Plan may be delegated by the Committee, in writing, to any subcommittee thereof, in which case the acts of such subcommittee shall be deemed to be acts of the Committee hereunder. The Committee may also from time to time authorize a subcommittee consisting of one or more members of the Board of Directors (including members who are employees of the Company) or employees of the Company to grant Stock Incentive Awards to persons who are not "executive officers" of the Company (within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act), subject to such restrictions and limitations as the Committee may specify and to the requirements of section 157 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

The Committee shall have full discretionary authority to administer the Plan, including discretionary authority to interpret and construe any and all provisions of the Plan and any Award Agreement thereunder, and to adopt, amend, and rescind from time to time such rules and regulations for the administration of the Plan, including rules and regulations related to sub-plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws and/or qualifying for preferred tax treatment under applicable foreign tax laws, as the Committee may deem necessary or appropriate. Decisions of the Committee shall be final, binding, and conclusive on all parties. For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may exercise all discretion granted to it under the Plan in a non-uniform manner among Participants.

The Committee may delegate the administration of the Plan to one or more officers or employees of the Company, and such administrator(s) may have the authority to execute and distribute Award Agreements, to maintain records relating to Stock Incentive Awards, to process or oversee the issuance of Common Stock under Stock Incentive Awards, to interpret and administer the terms of Stock Incentive Awards, and to take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate for the administration of the Plan and of Stock Incentive Awards under the Plan, provided that in no case shall any such administrator be authorized (i) to grant Stock Incentive Awards under the Plan (except in connection with any delegation made by the Committee pursuant to the first paragraph of this Section 4), (ii) to take any action inconsistent with section 409A of the Code, or (iii) to take any action inconsistent with applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Any action by any such administrator within the scope of its delegation shall be deemed for all purposes to have been taken by the Committee and, except as otherwise specifically provided, references in this Plan to the Committee shall include any such administrator. The Committee and, to the extent it so provides, any subcommittee, shall have sole authority to determine whether to review any actions and/or interpretations of any such administrator, and if the Committee shall decide to conduct such a review, any such actions and/or interpretations of any such administrator shall be subject to approval, disapproval, or modification by the Committee.

On or after the date of grant of a Stock Incentive Award under the Plan, the Committee may (i) accelerate the date on which any such Stock Incentive Award becomes vested, exercisable, or transferable, as the case may be, (ii) extend the term of any such Stock Incentive Award, including, without limitation, extending the period following a termination of a Participant's Employment during which any such Stock Incentive Award may remain outstanding, (iii) waive any conditions to the vesting, exercisability, or transferability, as the case may be, of any such Stock Incentive Award or (iv) provide for the payment of dividends or dividend equivalents with respect to any such Stock Incentive Award; provided, that the Committee shall not have any such authority to the extent that the grant of such authority would cause any tax to become due under section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not reprice any stock option (within the meaning of Section 711 of the NYSE American Company Guide and any other formal or informal guidance issued by the NYSE) without the approval of the shareholders of the Company.

No member of the Committee shall be liable for any action, omission, or determination relating to the Plan, and the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each member of the Committee and each other director or employee of the Company to whom any duty or power relating to the administration or interpretation of the Plan has been delegated, against any cost or expense (including counsel fees) or liability (including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the approval of the Committee) arising out of any action, omission, or determination relating to the Plan, unless, in either case, such action, omission, or determination was taken or made by such member, director, or employee in bad faith and without reasonable belief that it was in the best interests of the Company.

#### 5. Eligibility

The Persons who shall be eligible to receive Stock Incentive Awards pursuant to the Plan shall be those employees, non-employee directors, consultants, and other selected service providers of the Company whom the Committee shall select from time to time, including officers of the Company, whether or not they are directors. Each Stock Incentive Award granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement.

#### 6. Options

The Committee may from time to time grant Options on such terms as it shall determine, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan. The Award Agreement shall clearly identify such Option as either an "incentive stock option" within the meaning of section 422 of the Code or as a non-qualified stock option.

#### (a) Exercise Price

The exercise price per share of Common Stock covered by any Option shall be not less than one hundred percent of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date on which such Option is granted, other than assumptions in accordance with a corporate acquisition or merger as described in Section 3.

### (b) Term and Exercise of Options

(1) Each Option shall become vested and exercisable on such date or dates, during such period and for such number of shares of Common Stock as shall be determined by the Committee on or after the date such Option is granted; provided, however that no Option shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date such Option is granted; and, provided, further, that each Option shall be subject to earlier termination, expiration, or cancellation as provided in the Plan or the Award Agreement.

- (2) Each Option shall be exercisable in whole or in part; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u> that no partial exercise of an Option shall be for an aggregate exercise price of less than \$1,000 (unless waived by the Committee). The partial exercise of an Option shall not cause the expiration, termination, or cancellation of the remaining portion thereof.
- (3) An Option shall be exercised by such methods and procedures as the Committee determines from time to time, including without limitation through net physical settlement or other method of cashless exercise.

#### (c) Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options

- (1) The aggregate Fair Market Value of shares of Common Stock with respect to which "incentive stock options" (within the meaning of section 422 of the Code) are exercisable for the first time by a Participant during any calendar year under the Plan and any other stock option plan of the Company or any of its "subsidiaries" (within the meaning of section 424 of the Code) shall not exceed \$100,000. Such Fair Market Value shall be determined as of the date on which each such stock option is granted. In the event that the aggregate Fair Market Value of shares of Common Stock with respect to such incentive stock options exceeds \$100,000, then incentive stock options granted hereunder to such Participant shall, to the extent and in the order required by regulations promulgated under the Code (or any other authority having the force of regulations), automatically be deemed to be non-qualified stock options, but all other terms and provisions of such stock options shall remain unchanged. In the absence of such regulations (and authority), or in the event such regulations (or authority) require or permit a designation of the Options which shall cease to constitute incentive stock options, incentive stock options granted hereunder shall, to the extent of such excess and in the order in which they were granted, automatically be deemed to be non-qualified stock options, but all other terms and provisions of such stock options shall remain unchanged.
- (2) Incentive stock options may only be granted to individuals who are employees of the Company. No incentive stock option may be granted to an individual if, at the time of the proposed grant, such individual owns stock possessing more than ten percent of the total combined Voting Power of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its "subsidiaries" (within the meaning of section 424 of the Code), unless (i) the exercise price of such incentive stock option is at least 110 percent of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock at the time such incentive stock option is granted and (ii) such incentive stock option is not exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date such incentive stock option is granted.

#### 7. Other Stock-Based Awards

The Committee may from time to time grant equity-based or equity-related awards not otherwise described herein in such amounts and on such terms as it shall determine, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, each such Other Stock-Based Award may (i) involve the transfer of

actual shares of Common Stock to Participants, either at the time of grant or thereafter, or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares of Common Stock, (ii) be subject to performance-based and/or service-based conditions, (iii) be in the form of stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, deferred share units, or share-denominated performance units, and (iv) be designed to comply with applicable laws of jurisdictions other than the United States; <u>provided</u>, that each Other Stock-Based Award shall be denominated in, or shall have a value determined by reference to, a number of shares of Common Stock that is specified at the time of the grant of such Stock Incentive Award.

### 8. Performance-Based Compensation

The Company shall preserve the grandfathered status of any Performance-Based Compensation pursuant to section 13601(e)(2) of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. No provision of this Plan (including Sections 9 and 23) shall be given effect to the extent that such provision would cause any Performance-Based Compensation to be "materially modified" within the meaning of Notice 2018-68, IRB 18-36 (or other applicable guidance), unless the Committee expressly acknowledges and affirms such consequences.

#### 9. Adjustment upon Certain Changes

Subject to any action by the shareholders of the Company required by law, applicable tax rules or the rules of any exchange on which shares of common stock of the Company are listed for trading:

#### (a) Shares Available for Grants

In the event of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding by reason of any stock dividend or split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination, or exchange of shares or similar corporate change, the maximum aggregate number or type of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may grant Stock Incentive Awards, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be covered by Options that are designated as "incentive stock options" within the meaning of section 422 of the Code and the maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may grant Stock Incentive Awards to any individual Participant in any year and to any non-employee director shall be appropriately adjusted or substituted by the Committee. In the event of any change in the type or number of shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding by reason of any other event or transaction, the Committee shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, make such adjustments to the type or number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Incentive Awards may be granted.

#### (b) Increase or Decrease in Issued Shares Without Consideration

In the event of any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a subdivision or consolidation of shares of Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend (but only on the shares of Common Stock), or any other increase or decrease in the number of such shares effected without receipt or payment of consideration by the Committee shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, adjust the type or number of shares of Common Stock subject to each outstanding Stock Incentive Award and the exercise price

per share of Common Stock of each such Stock Incentive Award.

### (c) Certain Mergers and Other Transactions

In the event of any merger, consolidation, or similar transaction as a result of which the holders of shares of Common Stock receive consideration consisting exclusively of securities of the surviving corporation in such transaction, the Committee shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, adjust each Stock Incentive Award outstanding on the date of such merger or consolidation so that it pertains and applies to the securities which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Stock Incentive Award would have received in such merger or consolidation.

In the event of (i) a dissolution or liquidation of the Company, (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets (on a consolidated basis), (iii) a merger, consolidation, or similar transaction involving the Company in which the holders of shares of Common Stock receive securities and/or other property, including cash, other than shares of the surviving corporation in such transaction, the Committee shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, have the power to:

- (i) cancel, effective immediately prior to the occurrence of such event, each Stock Incentive Award (whether or not then exercisable or vested), and, in full consideration of such cancellation, pay to the Participant to whom such Stock Incentive Award was granted an amount in cash, for each share of Common Stock subject to such Stock Incentive Award, equal to the value, as determined by the Committee, of such Stock Incentive Award, provided that with respect to any outstanding Option such value shall be equal to the excess of (A) the value, as determined by the Committee, of the property (including cash) received by the holder of a share of Common Stock as a result of such event over (B) the exercise price of such Option; or
- (ii) provide for the exchange of each Stock Incentive Award (whether or not then exercisable or vested) for a Stock Incentive Award with respect to (A) some or all of the property which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Stock Incentive Award would have received in such transaction or (B) securities of the acquirer or surviving entity and, incident thereto, make an equitable adjustment as determined by the Committee in the exercise price of the Stock Incentive Award, or the number of shares or amount of property subject to the Stock Incentive Award or provide for a payment (in cash or other property) to the Participant to whom such Stock Incentive Award was granted in partial consideration for the exchange of the Stock Incentive Award.

### (d) Other Changes

In the event of any change in the capitalization of the Company, corporate change, corporate transaction or other event other than those specifically referred to in Sections 9(a), (b) or (c), the Committee shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, make such adjustments in the number and class of shares subject to Stock Incentive Awards outstanding on the date on which such change occurs and in such other terms of such Stock Incentive Awards as the Committee deems appropriate.

### (e) No Other Rights

Except as expressly provided in the Plan or any Award Agreement, no Participant shall have any rights by reason of any subdivision or consolidation of shares of stock of any class, the payment of any dividends or dividend equivalents, any increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any class or any dissolution, liquidation, merger, or consolidation of the Company or any other corporation. Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no issuance by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number of shares or amount of other property subject to, or the terms related to, any Stock Incentive Award.

#### (f) Savings Clause

No provision of this Section 9 shall be given effect to the extent that such provision would cause any tax to become due under section 409A of the Code.

# 10. Change-in-Control; Termination of Employment

## (a) Change-in-Control

The consequences of a Change-in-Control, if any, will be set forth in the Award Agreement in addition to what is provided in Section 10 hereof.

### (b) Termination of Employment

- (1) Except as to any awards constituting stock rights subject to section 409A of the Code, termination of Employment shall mean a separation from service within the meaning of section 409A of the Code, unless the Participant is retained as a consultant pursuant to a written agreement and such agreement provides otherwise. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee shall determine whether an authorized leave of absence, or absence in military or government service, shall constitute termination of Employment, provided that a Participant who is an employee will not be deemed to cease employment in the case of any leave of absence approved by the Company. Furthermore, no payment shall be made with respect to any Stock Incentive Awards under the Plan that are subject to section 409A of the Code as a result of any such authorized leave of absence or absence in military or government service unless such authorized leave or absence constitutes a separation from service for purposes of section 409A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (2) Unless otherwise specified in the Award Agreement, no Stock Incentive Award will continue to vest after termination of Employment and the consequences with respect to any Option of the termination of Employment of the Participant holding the Option shall be as follows:
- (i) If the Participant's termination of Employment occurs prior to the Option's expiration date, for any reason whatsoever other than death or authorized retirement (as defined in subparagraph (ii) below), any unexercised portion of the Award shall terminate automatically.
- (ii) If a Participant retires upon reaching the Company's normal retirement age or earlier, with the written consent of the Company, because of physical or mental disability (collectively, "authorized retirement"), any unexercised or unvested portion of the Option shall expire three months after the effective date of such authorized retirement. The Participant may exercise all or any vested portion of an Option from the date of his or her authorized retirement to three months thereafter.
- (iii) If prior to the expiration date of the Option, the Participant dies while employed by the Company or its subsidiary or within three months of his or her authorized retirement, the Participant's estate, heirs or legatees shall have the privilege of exercising all or part of the unexercised Option within six months after the Participant's death.

Nothing contained in this Section shall extend the time for exercising all or any part of the then unexercised portion of an Option.

#### 11. Rights Under the Plan

No Person shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any shares of Common Stock covered by or relating to any Stock Incentive Award until the date of the issuance of such shares on the books and records of the Company. Except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 9 hereof, no adjustment of any Stock Incentive Award shall be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date occurs prior to the date of such issuance. Nothing in this Section 11 is intended, or should be construed, to limit authority of the Committee to cause the Company to make payments based on the dividends that would be payable with respect to any share of Common Stock if it were issued or outstanding, or from granting rights related to such dividends.

The Company shall not have any obligation to establish any separate fund or trust or other segregation of assets to provide for payments under the Plan. To the extent any person acquires any rights to receive payments hereunder from the Company, such rights shall be no greater than those of an unsecured creditor.

### 12. No Special Employment Rights; No Right to Stock Incentive Awards

- (a) Nothing contained in the Plan or any Award Agreement shall confer upon any Participant any right with respect to the continuation of his or her Employment by the Company or interfere in any way with the right of the Company at any time to terminate such Employment or to increase or decrease the compensation of the Participant from the rate in existence at the time of the grant of a Stock Incentive Award.
- (b) No person shall have any claim or right to receive a Stock Incentive Award hereunder. The Committee's granting of a Stock Incentive Award to a Participant at any time shall neither require the Committee to grant a Stock Incentive Award to such Participant or any other Participant or other person at any time nor preclude the Committee from making subsequent grants to such Participant or any other Participant or other person.

#### 13. Securities Matters

- (a) The Company shall be under no obligation to affect the registration pursuant to the Securities Act of any shares of Common Stock to be issued hereunder or to effect similar compliance under any state or local laws. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be obligated to cause to be issued shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan unless and until the Company is advised by its counsel that the issuance is in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations of governmental authority, and the requirements of any securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are traded. The Committee may require, as a condition to the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the terms hereof, that the recipient of such shares make such covenants, agreements, and representations, and that any related certificates representing such shares bear such legends, as the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems necessary or desirable.
- (b) The exercise or settlement of any Stock Incentive Award (including, without limitation, any Option) granted hereunder shall only be effective at such time as counsel to the Company shall have determined that the issuance and delivery of shares of Common Stock pursuant to such exercise is in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations of governmental authority, and the requirements of any securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are traded. The Company may, in its sole discretion, defer the effectiveness of any exercise or settlement of a Stock Incentive Award granted hereunder in order to allow the issuance of shares pursuant thereto to be made pursuant to registration or an exemption from registration or other methods for compliance available under federal or state or local securities laws. The Company shall inform the Participant in writing of its decision to defer the effectiveness of the exercise or settlement of a Stock Incentive Award granted hereunder. During the period that the effectiveness of the exercise of a Stock Incentive Award has been deferred, the Participant may, by written notice, withdraw such exercise and obtain the refund of any amount paid with respect thereto.

#### 14. Withholding Taxes

#### (a) Cash Remittance

Whenever withholding tax obligations are incurred in connection with any Stock Incentive Award, the Company shall have the right to require the Participant to remit to the Company in cash an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such event. In addition, upon the exercise or settlement of any Stock Incentive Award in cash, or the making of any other payment with respect to any Stock Incentive Award (other than in shares of Common Stock), the Company shall have the right to withhold from any payment required to be made pursuant thereto an amount sufficient to satisfy the federal, state, and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such exercise, settlement, or payment.

### (b) Stock Remittance

At the election of the Participant, subject to the approval of the Committee, whenever withholding tax obligations are incurred in connection with any Stock Incentive Award, the Participant may tender to the Company (including by attestation) a number of shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value at the tender date determined by the Committee to be sufficient to satisfy the minimum federal, state, and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such event. Such election shall satisfy the Participant's obligations under Section 14(a) hereof, if any.

#### (c) Stock Withholding

At the election of the Participant, subject to the approval of the Committee, whenever withholding tax obligations are incurred in connection with any Stock Incentive Award, the Company shall withhold a number of such shares having a Fair Market Value determined by the Committee to be sufficient to satisfy the minimum federal, state, and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such event. Such election shall satisfy the Participant's obligations under Section 14(a) hereof, if any.

#### 15. No Obligation to Exercise

The grant to a Participant of a Stock Incentive Award shall impose no obligation upon such Participant to exercise such Stock Incentive Award.

#### 16. Transfers

Stock Incentive Awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the lifetime of a Participant, only by the Participant. Upon the death of a Participant, outstanding Stock Incentive Awards granted to such Participant may be exercised only by the executors or administrators of the Participant's estate or by any person or persons who shall have acquired such right to exercise by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. No transfer by will or the laws of descent and distribution of any Stock Incentive Award, or the right to exercise any Stock Incentive Award, shall be effective to bind the Company unless the Committee shall have been furnished with (a) written notice thereof and with a copy of the will and/or such evidence as the Committee may deem necessary to establish the validity of the transfer and (b) an agreement by the transferee to comply with all the terms and conditions of the Stock Incentive Award that are or would have been applicable to the Participant and to be bound by the acknowledgements made by the Participant in connection with the grant of the Stock Incentive Award.

#### 17. Expenses and Receipts

The expenses of the Plan shall be paid by the Company. Any proceeds received by the Company in connection with any Stock Incentive Award will be used for general corporate purposes.

### 18. Failure to Comply

In addition to the remedies of the Company elsewhere provided for herein, failure by a Participant to comply with any of the terms and conditions of the Plan or any Award Agreement, unless such failure is remedied by such Participant within ten days after having been notified of such failure by the Committee, shall be grounds for the cancellation and forfeiture of such Stock Incentive Award, in whole or in part, as the Committee, in its absolute discretion, may determine.

#### 19. Relationship to Other Benefits

No payment with respect to any Stock Incentive Awards under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any benefits under any pension, retirement, profit sharing, group insurance, or other benefit plan of the Company except as otherwise specifically provided in such other plan.

### 20. Governing Law

The Plan and the rights of all persons under the Plan shall be construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to its conflict of law principles.

#### 21. Severability

If all or any part of this Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any portion of this Plan not declared to be unlawful or invalid. Any Section or part of a Section so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner that will give effect to the terms of such Section or part of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.

#### 22. Effective Date and Term of Plan

The Effective Date of the Plan is September 30, 2017, subject to the approval of the Plan by the shareholders of the Company. No grants of Stock Incentive Awards may be made under the Plan after September 30, 2027.

#### 23. Amendment or Termination of the Plan

The Board of Directors may at any time suspend or discontinue the Plan or revise or amend it or any Stock Incentive Award in any respect whatsoever; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that to the extent that any applicable law, tax requirement, or rule of a stock exchange requires shareholder approval in order for any such revision or amendment to be effective, such revision or amendment shall not be effective without such approval. The preceding sentence shall not restrict the Committee's ability to exercise its discretionary authority hereunder pursuant to Section 4 hereof, which discretion may be exercised without amendment to the Plan. No provision of this Section 23 shall be given effect to the extent that such provision would cause any tax to become due under section 409A of the Code. Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no action hereunder may, without the consent of a Participant, adversely affect the Participant's rights under any previously granted and outstanding Stock Incentive Award. Nothing in the Plan shall limit the right of the Company to pay compensation of any kind outside the terms of the Plan.